

6/27/2013

Page 1

CITY OF DETROIT
BOARD OF POLICE COMMISSIONERS
REGULAR MEETING

PAGES 1 - 61

Taken at 7310 Woodward Avenue

Detroit, Michigan,

Thursday, June 27, 2013,

Commencing at 3:13 p.m.

Reported by: Trisha N. Houpt, CSR-6175, RPR

1 APPEARANCES:

2 MR. JEROME WARFIELD, CHAIRPERSON

3 MS. JESSICA TAYLOR, COMMISSIONER

4 MR. DONNELL WHITE, COMMISSIONER

5 MR. GEORGE ANTHONY, EXECUTIVE SECRETARY

6 MR. JAMES TOLBERT, DEPUTY CHIEF

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

* * *

COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: Good afternoon, ladies and gentlemen, and welcome to the Board of Police Commissioners Meeting.

My name is Jerome Warfield, Chairman of the Board of Police Commissioners. Serving with me as the vice chairperson, Commissioner Jessica Taylor, as well as Commissioner Donnell White. Here today representing the chief's office is Deputy Chief James Tolbert. Sir, good to have you.

DEPUTY CHIEF TOLBERT: Thank you, sir. Good to be here.

COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: Sitting to my right and your left is our board secretary, Attorney George Anthony. I'm going to ask if Mr. Anthony could introduce the rest of our staff that's here and present.

SECRETARY ANTHONY: Thank you, Mr. Chair. For the record, George Anthony, Secretary to the Board. We have present Ms. Pamela Davis Drake, our Chief Investigator; Ms. Loletha Porter Coleman, who is our Director of Police Personnel; Ms. Celia Banks Washington, the attorney to the board; and Mr. Robert Brown, who is our office manager. Sergeant Alan Quinn is recording our proceedings, and Ms. Trisha Houpt is

1 our court reporter from Hanson Court Reporting Service.
2 That completes the introduction.

3 COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: Thank you, sir. I
4 appreciate that. Today we are blessed to have Pastor
5 Chaplain Darren Penson, and he will lead us in our
6 invocation. I'm going to ask him to come at this time.

7 I want to say this as he comes. It was I
8 think three years ago that we started to have
9 invocations at these meetings. Prior to that there
10 were none whatsoever. And so it was the Chaplain Corps
11 that stepped up. And I can tell you that as a result,
12 I believe just your presence and your prayers -- and
13 please tell the Chaplain Corps this, that we thank you
14 all, that our meetings I think have been a lot
15 smoother. Even though we've had to deal with some
16 tough issues, there has been a presence within our
17 meetings. And we thank you for that. So your
18 invocations are not just mere exercises of futility,
19 but they help set the right atmosphere. So thank you,
20 sir.

21 PASTOR PENSON: Thank you. May we all bow
22 our heads in a word of prayer. We will definitely
23 forward that to the Chaplain Corps.

24 Father in the name of Jesus, we come before
25 you first and foremost just to say thank you. And, our

1 God, we know that we live in an ever so changing world.
2 So, God, during this season that we're in, God,
3 continue to allow our department to maintain its
4 integrity. Also, God, we ask just a blessing upon all
5 each individual, the men and women, God, that wear the
6 badges, God. We ask, God, that you enlarge their
7 shields, God, by the shield that you protect them while
8 they patrol this community. Now, God, we just ask the
9 blessing upon this meeting. Let it be to your glory,
10 God, as we echo the sentiments and issues that
11 transpire throughout this department. God, we pray
12 that you allow it to be a smooth transition, that we'll
13 be able to move forward as a beacon light in this
14 community. We bless you and we honor you. In Jesus'
15 name, amen.

16 COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: Amen. Thank you,
17 sir. At this time, we entertain the motion to approve
18 today's agenda.

19 COMMISSIONER WHITE: A chair moves to approve
20 today's agenda with one amendment, that we postpone the
21 approval of the minutes dated Thursday, June 20th,
22 until our next meeting, Tuesday, July 2nd.

23 COMMISSIONER TAYLOR: Support.

24 COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: It's been properly
25 moved and supported to approve today's agenda with the

1 exception of the minutes. Anymore discussion or any
2 discussion? All those in favor?

3 COMMISSIONERS: Aye.

4 COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: The motion is
5 carried. Thank you. Certainly I'm glad to see all of
6 you here. I certainly want to thank the men and women
7 in blue for just an outstanding job that you did Monday
8 night downtown. I was down there. I was watching from
9 a distance, though. But you all did a really really
10 great job. I mean, at the very hint that something
11 might be wrong, you all were on it. And just kudos.
12 Just kudos to everybody that pitched in and did their
13 job and did it extremely well. We know that there were
14 some erroneous reports out there that have now been
15 cleared up. But your efforts do not go unnoticed. I
16 think almost a million people was down there, and
17 everybody got back home safely and in one piece as a
18 result of you doing your job that you do so well.

19 As some of you know, those of you who come to
20 the meetings often, this is going to be Chief Logan's
21 official last meeting with us. Although he's not here
22 now, we hope that he will come. In a little while
23 we're going to read a resolution in his honor that we
24 will hopefully present to him, if not today, tomorrow
25 just for his outstanding service. We have not been shy

1 about the outstanding job that Chief Logan has done in
2 these last seven to nine months that he's been in
3 charge of this department. And he's done it in a very
4 quiet and unassuming way the way he has rallied the
5 troops together, the way he has restored integrity and
6 ethics to this department. And so we cannot say enough
7 about his strength, about his character, and about his
8 leadership as it relates to what he means to this board
9 and to this department. And so certainly for the
10 record, we want to make sure that we acknowledge him,
11 again, just for his outstanding service that he's given
12 to this department.

13 Also, I want to inform you that according to
14 the Detroit City Charter, that we are called to hold
15 elections yearly every twelve months in order that we
16 may elect a new chair, a new vice chair, so on, and so
17 forth. According to the City Charter, the chair cannot
18 succeed themselves, and a new chair will be elected.
19 This will be my last meeting as chair, although my term
20 does not expire until next year.

21 But I want to thank all of you just for your
22 support down through the years and especially this
23 year. We have witnessed and seen a lot this year, and
24 we've come through, you know, a lot of interesting
25 times. But, you know, all and all I'm very proud of

1 this board and the colleagues that we have. We had the
2 opportunity to speak with some who were running for
3 police commission this year, and we told them very
4 clearly that this is not a board where the members are
5 contentious and fighting one another in public. If we
6 agree, we'll agree to agree. If we disagree, we agree
7 to disagree. I think that's the type of leadership as
8 you study the candidates that will be running for
9 office for these seats that you need to elect someone
10 that would uphold the City Charter and someone that
11 would always uphold the integrity of these seats as
12 these men and women have done at my side. So I thank
13 them just for being excellent colleagues.

14 I want to thank our staff. I've said it over
15 and again. I think we have the best staff in the City
16 of Detroit bar none. They keep things tight, straight,
17 and right all the time. And so I want to thank our
18 staff for just the outstanding job that they do because
19 they're the ones who keep -- yes. Give them a hand,
20 please.

21 And so having said that -- and I won't do a
22 year review type speech. I think those of you who have
23 been with us, you know exactly what has happened in the
24 last year. But I want to thank you just for your
25 support. Certainly the board has always been in the

1 business of making accomplishments and doing the right
2 things. And so we thank you just for what you have
3 done. And that's my report.

4 At this time, I'm going to turn it over to
5 the board secretary for the secretary's report.

6 COMMISSIONER WHITE: Mr. Chair, if I could,
7 before the secretary begins, I just would like to ask
8 for a point of special privilege that I may thank you
9 publically for your leadership over the course of this
10 previous year. I think this department has been
11 through some challenges both internally and externally.
12 I think your leadership that you exude has been
13 constant, has seen us through those times. And, again,
14 as when I first came on this body under your
15 chairmanship, I think you have been a catalyst for
16 motivation to achieve for not only those commissioners
17 who are still on this body but for those who seek this
18 office. So I just wanted to publically say thank you
19 and ask that we all thank Commissioner Warfield for his
20 years service.

21 COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: Thank you. Thank
22 you. Thank you. Thank you.

23 SECRETARY ANTHONY: Mr. Chair, the board has
24 received a suspension without pay request from the
25 chief for Police Officer Lawrence Mitchell, Badge 1005,

1 assigned to the homicide section. It's my
2 understanding that there was no request for a closed
3 door. And at your -- at your prerogative, Attorney
4 Celia Banks Washington can address the matter further.

5 ATTY. WASHINGTON: Thank you, Mr. Secretary to
6 the board. Celia Washington, attorney for the board.
7 I just confirmed just a moment ago that Attorney
8 Goldpaugh was aware of today's hearing and he did not
9 intend to appear to contest and asked that I read, if I
10 would and if it would please the board, a brief summary
11 of the underlying facts.

12 This is a matter that has already come before
13 this board on a suspension without pay with regard to a
14 jacket, if you'll remember. There have been one key
15 change in the facts, and I'll just -- after I've
16 mentioned the underlying facts, I'll fast forward to
17 that portion.

18 Before you today is the Suspension Without
19 Pay Petition of Police Officer Lawrence Mitchell, Badge
20 1005, assigned to homicide.

21 On February 27th, 2013, at approximately
22 4:00 p.m. Internal Affairs was notified by Lieutenant
23 Don Johnson, Badge L116, assigned to the Northeastern
24 District, that he was contacted by the complainant
25 regarding allegation of larceny. He alleged that

1 during an investigation, an officer took his jacket.
2 Officer Mitchell confirmed he took the complainant's
3 jacket because, quote, he was not worthy of wearing the
4 jacket, unquote.

5 Lieutenant Johnson ordered Officer Mitchell
6 to retrieve the jacket, and it was placed on evidence.

7 On June 6th, 2013, the Board of Police
8 Commissioners contravened the recommendation to suspend
9 Officer Mitchell without pay.

10 On June 10, 2013, Internal Affairs spoke with
11 the APA, assistant prosecuting attorney, Robert
12 Donaldson regarding the status of the investigator's
13 report specific to Officer Mitchell. Internal Affairs
14 was advised that the investigator's report had been
15 signed by APA Chris Kowal -- that's spelled
16 K-o-w-a-l -- with the recommended charges of one
17 felony count of misconduct in office and one
18 misdemeanor count of neglect of duty.

19 Also, on June 10, 2013, the Honorable
20 Magistrate Steve Lochart, 36th District Court did sign
21 the felony warrant for the recommended charges.

22 And, commissioners, that is primarily the
23 change is that now there has been a felony warrant
24 issued. I'd also like to bring to your attention in
25 this petition for suspension on the last page it asks

1 for suspension effective June 20th. But through the
2 chair and Mr. Secretary, that would be effective
3 today's date, June 27th, if I'm not mistaken. Mr.
4 Secretary?

5 SECRETARY ANTHONY: Commissioners, you've
6 heard the -- you've heard the recommendations and
7 things of the Chief of Police. And unless you object
8 to his recommendation, then the suspension without pay
9 will stand.

10 COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: Sir, there is no
11 contravention so suspension without pay will stand.

12 SECRETARY ANTHONY: Thank you very much, sir.

13 COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: Is there anything
14 else, sir?

15 SECRETARY ANTHONY: I apologize. Nothing
16 else. Nothing more.

17 COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: Thank you. Deputy
18 Chief?

19 DEPUTY CHIEF TOLBERT: Yes, we do have a
20 presentation from the property section. We'll bring up
21 Sergeant Dixon.

22 SERGEANT DIXON: Good afternoon, most
23 honorable board, deputy chief. I'm Derrick C. Dixon.
24 This is my partner David Dehem, sergeants of the
25 Detroit Police Property Control.

1 As you see here, at property control our goal
2 is to be efficient, to have efficient management and
3 security of evidence. That's what we do.

4 At this time we have approximately 375,000
5 pieces of evidence; 40,000 narcotics tags; 32,000
6 firearms. And that is held at our two main locations.
7 One is 1300 Beaubian, Room 108; and, also, at our
8 Lyndon location.

9 Our unit responsibilities are as follows: We
10 receive, transfer, and process all evidence property
11 from the districts, laboratories, homicide, etcetera.
12 We average about 1,200 pieces of evidence per week,
13 which includes money, jewelry, narcotics, firearms, for
14 court cases, lab analysis. And we also return property
15 to the owners and turn over the property to other law
16 enforcement agencies, as well.

17 Our cash deposits -- we deposit money. Those
18 are the forfeiture funds and, also, unclaimed money for
19 general deposit that goes for the city.

20 Relative to our firearms, we try to reduce
21 our firearms. We have right now over 37,000 firearms
22 currently stored. We take our handguns to the Michigan
23 State Police and long guns to the Severstall North
24 America. And, also, we are continuing to do what we
25 can to reduce our firearms inventory.

1 When it comes to our narcotics, we try to
2 reduce our inventory with the narcotics also through
3 burns. We conduct large drug burns. We've had nearly
4 3,400 items burned since January of 2012, which frees
5 up valuable narcotics space. We're continuing trying
6 to do that, as well.

7 We also conduct property auctions as far as
8 property that we turn over. It's separate valuable
9 items, and it's turned over to a professional
10 auctioneer that handles that aspect of it. We
11 generated nearly 41,000 in revenue since January of
12 2012.

13 And more successes that we've had, we've had
14 over 25,000 items disposed of since January of 2013 of
15 this year. And we've opened up valuable storage space,
16 as well. And we transport the items that we do dispose
17 of to the incinerator by truck.

18 More success is that we have usually weekly
19 deposits of currency, we reduce our firearms, reduce
20 narcotics, which in turn reduces our inventory.

21 We're looking forward for what's on the
22 horizon, and that is our new property room. One-stop
23 shopping for department evidence needs. It will
24 provide a quality climate control facility, and it
25 provides excellent customer service under one roof for

1 our citizens.

2 Are there any questions?

3 COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: Thank you, sir.

4 SERGEANT DIXON: You're welcome.

5 COMMISSIONER TAYLOR: I just have one. On
6 the first page there when you say 357,000 pieces of
7 evidence, 40,000 narcotics tags, 32,000 firearms, what
8 does that mean? I mean, just looking at it, what does
9 that mean?

10 SERGEANT DIXON: Yes, ma'am. What that means
11 is for each tag, that represents a piece of evidence
12 for each tag. As you said, 32,000 firearms that we
13 have on inventory which is placed on evidence tags.
14 That way we're able to locate those pieces of evidence
15 whenever they're needed for court or for whatever
16 business that we need to. If we're going to destroy
17 it, we also keep that record.

18 COMMISSIONER TAYLOR: Okay. Thank you.

19 SERGEANT DIXON: You're welcome, ma'am.

20 COMMISSIONER WHITE: Thank you, Sergeant
21 Dixon. On the auction property, are action dollars
22 returned to general fund?

23 SERGEANT DIXON: Yes, they are.

24 COMMISSIONER WHITE: And lastly, the 41,000
25 in revenue, is it since January 2012 or 2013?

1 SERGEANT DIXON: 2012.

2 COMMISSIONER WHITE: So it's 41,000 roughly
3 over the last year and a half?

4 SERGEANT DIXON: Yes, that is correct.

5 COMMISSIONER WHITE: Is that pretty
6 commiserate with what we've done in previous years?

7 SERGEANT DIXON: It kind of varies. We do
8 have records. Some years are better than others as far
9 as the revenue that we're -- that we take in and able
10 to enter into deposit.

11 COMMISSIONER WHITE: And how many auctions
12 annually are we hosting?

13 SERGEANT DIXON: We host approximately seven
14 or eight auctions. And those are posted on the
15 website, as well.

16 COMMISSIONER WHITE: Seven or eight?

17 SERGEANT DIXON: Yes, sir. It could be even
18 more.

19 COMMISSIONER WHITE: And the last question.
20 On your evidence -- I'm sorry. Your new property room.
21 Forgive me if I over -- or I didn't catch it. But
22 where is that new space located?

23 SERGEANT DIXON: 1300 John C. Lodge, the old
24 MGM Casino.

25 COMMISSIONER WHITE: So that's the new

1 headquarters?

2 SERGEANT DIXON: That is the new
3 headquarters. Yes, sir.

4 COMMISSIONER WHITE: Thank you.

5 SERGEANT DIXON: You're welcome, sir.

6 COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: Thank you, sergeant.
7 I appreciate it.

8 SERGEANT DIXON: Thank you.

9 DEPUTY CHIEF TOLBERT: Chief, that's it.

10 COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: All right. Very
11 good. Very good. Thank you, sir.

12 I want to backtrack just for a minute. OCI.
13 Is there something for OCI or -- okay. All right.

14 We have some resolutions under new business,
15 one honoring Chief Chester L. Logan. I'm going to ask
16 if Commissioner White will -- I'm going to ask if
17 Commissioner White could read this into the record in
18 its entirety on behalf of Chief Logan.

19 And then in addition, I'm going to ask if
20 Commissioner Taylor would read resolutions honoring
21 Commander Jeffrey Romeo and Police Officer Grigg
22 Espinoza in honoring of their retiring from the
23 department, as well. Sir.

24 COMMISSIONER WHITE: Commissioners, it is my
25 honor to read a resolution honoring Chief of Police

1 Chester L. Logan.

2 Whereas, Chester L. Logan was appointed to
3 the Detroit Police department on April 21, 1969. Upon
4 graduating from the Detroit Metropolitan Police
5 Academy, he began his career as a police officer
6 assigned to the patrol support unit. Substantially,
7 Officer Logan was assigned to the Eleventh Precinct and
8 Tenth precinct. After serving six years as a patrol
9 officer, Officer Logan was assigned to the academy as
10 an instructor providing training to new police
11 recruits.

12 And whereas, Officer Logan was promoted to
13 the rank of sergeant on March 27, 1975, where he served
14 as patrol sergeant at the Twelfth Precinct. In 1976,
15 Sergeant Logan was transferred to the Professional
16 Standards Section where he was responsible for
17 conducting the investigations of citizen complaints.

18 And whereas, on January 13, 1977, Sergeant
19 Logan was promoted to the rank of lieutenant and served
20 as a Shift Lieutenant at the Twelfth Precinct. During
21 his tenure at the Twelfth Precinct, Lieutenant Logan
22 was recognized for his grasp of laws and department
23 policies and procedures, communication skills, and
24 strong ability to lead and direct his officers. As a
25 result, Lieutenant Logan was assigned as the precinct

1 Executive Lieutenant and where he worked directly with
2 the Patrol Inspector to monitor and coordinate officer
3 performance, advise and make decisions on application
4 of appropriate discipline, develop and roll out
5 training initiatives, and build strong community
6 relations.

7 And whereas, shortly after a transfer to the
8 Fourth Precinct, Lieutenant Logan was appointed to the
9 rank of inspector on February 13, 1986. Again,
10 recognized for his outstanding leadership and
11 management skills, Inspector Logan was transferred to
12 the Eastern Operations Bureau and assigned as an
13 adjutant to the Deputy Chief of Eastern Operations
14 Bureau where he managed the day-to-day operations of
15 the bureau.

16 And whereas, in August 1993, Inspector Logan
17 was promoted to the rank of commander and served as the
18 commanding officer of the Seventh Precinct until his
19 retirement on January 20, 2002.

20 And whereas, Commander Logan proved to be one
21 of the most effective commanders in the history of the
22 department. Highly respected by the community,
23 particularly in the Seventh Precinct, Commander Logan's
24 ability to bond with the community was superior and
25 provided a partnership that positively impacted the

1 department's ability to reduce crime and improve the
2 quality of life for the residence. Commander Logan
3 designed, led, and implemented community policing
4 initiatives that were used as models by other precinct
5 commanders. Actively involved in all of his precincts'
6 community efforts, Commander Logan represented the
7 leadership of the department well.

8 And whereas, Commander Logan was rehired in
9 March 2005 as Deputy Chief in charge of the Risks
10 Management Bureau and later placed in charge of the
11 Northeastern District during a very critical time in
12 the department's history. Deputy Chief Logan retired
13 for a second time on September 25, 2008.

14 And whereas, Deputy Chief Logan continued his
15 residence in the city and remained active with the
16 community even after his retirement. His dedication
17 and performance which often went above and beyond the
18 call of duty, qualified him for rehire and appointment
19 as an Assistant Chief for the police department in July
20 2010. In this highly visible and demanding role,
21 Assistant Chief Logan fearlessly and devotedly worked
22 to lead the department and create sustainable
23 partnerships and reduce crime.

24 And whereas, on December 20, 2012, in a time
25 of crisis, Assistant Chief Logan was again called upon

1 to serve the department. Mayor Dave Bing promoted
2 Assistant Chief Logan to the rank of Chief of Police.
3 He continued in this role until his retirement on July
4 1, 2013, with over forty years of dedicated service.
5 Despite many social and economic challenges, including
6 lack of human capital and financial constraints, Chief
7 Logan with the support of the men and women of the
8 department continued to reduce crime, fear, and
9 disorder within the City of Detroit. Also, during his
10 tenure as chief, the department developed new policies
11 and training directives.

12 And whereas, Chief Logan continued to achieve
13 his academic goals as he advanced through his
14 illustrious 40 plus year career. A 1995 graduate of
15 Northwestern University School of Police Staff &
16 Command, Chief Logan also earned his bachelor of
17 science degree in criminal justice from Madonna
18 University in 1974 and his master of science degree in
19 criminal justice from Eastern Michigan University in
20 1995.

21 And whereas, Chief Logan is a highly
22 decorated member of the department, having received
23 many honors including the GOP Commemorative Award, two
24 department citations, four chief citations, four chief
25 merit awards, four chief unit awards, two chamber of

1 commerce awards, and nine perfect attendance awards,
2 one chief citation and medal, and numerous letters of
3 commendations from supervisors and citizens.

4 And whereas, Chief Logan is devoted to the
5 community, seniors and youth. He could be seen at
6 neighborhood community meetings and events, walking
7 beats, visiting citizens, participating in anticrime
8 walks, Motor City makeovers, national night outs,
9 historical events within the City of Detroit, Angel's
10 Nights, various Next Detroit Neighborhood Initiatives,
11 and countless other programs. He was unwavering in his
12 visions against crime, and his knowledge of the
13 department spanned numerous operations. This devotion
14 transcended throughout the community as he knew many
15 citizens and children on a first-name basis. He was
16 always eager to honor the men and women of the
17 department, as well as citizens for their service and
18 courage and made it his life's work to encourage
19 everyone to help keep the community safe. His
20 remarkable stand and public presence has indelibly
21 reached the entire City of Detroit.

22 Now, therefore, be it resolved that the
23 Detroit Board of Police Commissioners speaking on
24 behalf of the citizens of the City of Detroit and the
25 Detroit Police Department awards this resolution in

1 recognition of Chief Chester L. Logan's 40 plus years
2 of unmatched and unparalleled service. His devotion
3 and commitment to the community, together with his fine
4 leadership of the Detroit Police Department merits our
5 highest regards and best wishes for continued success.
6 We salute and congratulate you Chief of Police Chester
7 L. Logan. Signed the Detroit Board of Police
8 Commissioners, adopted this day, June 27th, 2013.

9 Mr. Chair, it is, again, my honor to move for
10 adoption for the resolution honoring Chief of Police
11 Chester L. Logan.

12 COMMISSIONER TAYLOR: Support.

13 MR. WARFIELD. It's been properly moved and
14 supported. Anymore discussion?

15 I want to say out of the almost four years
16 I've been on this board I think this is the first time
17 that we have paused to honor a Chief of Police in this
18 manner. And certainly he is deserving, and I know that
19 he is thankful to all of you and for what you mean to
20 him. All those in favor of adopting the resolution?

21 COMMISSIONERS: Aye.

22 THE COURT: All those opposed? The motion
23 carries. And that resolution will be a part of our
24 permanent archives.

25 We will now hear from the resolutions

1 regarding Jeffrey Romeo and Police Officer Grigg
2 Espinoza.

3 COMMISSIONER TAYLOR: Sir, I see that Romeo
4 is here.

5 COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: Oh, he is here. Sir,
6 could you come on down, Commander Romeo. Good to see
7 you. Give him a hand as he comes.

8 And I would just ask before we read the
9 resolution for Commander Romeo that the record reflect
10 that it was a unanimous decision that we have the
11 resolution for Chief of Police Chester Logan. Thank
12 you.

13 Sir, first of all, good to see you. Before
14 we read the resolution, let me say this. I thank you
15 just for the outstanding job that you've done in
16 leading us through this entire consent decree. This
17 board is honored because it was only within the short
18 window, three-year window, that we made monumental
19 leaps primarily with you at the helm making sure that
20 we got this thing done. And so the City of Detroit
21 would never understand the full magnitude of what you
22 did in your position. But I want you to know that we
23 understand very clearly that this department
24 culturally, procedurally is better now than it was then
25 because of what you did. And so we take our hats off,

1 and we thank you for what you've done.

2 COMMISSIONER TAYLOR: The resolution honoring
3 Commander Jeffrey S. Romeo.

4 Whereas, Commander Jeffrey S. Romeo will
5 retire from the Detroit Police Department on June 28th,
6 2012? '13. '13. After completing 27 years of
7 dedicated service to the department and to the citizens
8 of Detroit.

9 And whereas, Jeffrey Romeo was appointed to
10 the Detroit Police Department on July 14th, 1986. Upon
11 graduating from the Detroit Metropolitan Police
12 Academy, Officer Romeo began his career in law
13 enforcement at the Eighth Precinct. On March 21st,
14 1997, he was promoted to sergeant and was assigned to
15 the Fourth Precinct and legal affairs division.

16 And whereas, Sergeant Romeo was promoted to
17 the rank of lieutenant on October 27, 2000. His
18 assignments included legal affairs division,
19 disciplinary administration unit, labor relations,
20 planning and accreditation section, and office of civil
21 rights.

22 And whereas, Lieutenant Romeo was appointed
23 to the rank of commander on December 3rd, 2007, and was
24 reassigned to Office of Civil Rights where both his
25 patrol, background, and experience handling legal

1 matters played an instrumental role in assisting the
2 department in its endeavors to attain compliance with
3 two consent judgments. Commander Romeo remained at the
4 Office of Civil Rights where he served until his
5 retirement.

6 And whereas, Commander Romeo's leadership and
7 law enforcement skills have been recognized and honored
8 by various departmental awards including one lifesaving
9 award, one citation, and numerous letters of
10 commendation and appreciation from citizens and
11 superiors.

12 And now, therefore, be it resolved that the
13 Detroit board Of Police Commissioners speaking for the
14 citizens of Detroit and the Detroit Police Department
15 awards this resolution in sincere appreciation and
16 recognition of Commander Jeffrey Romeo's 27 years of
17 outstanding service and commitment to the City of
18 Detroit and its citizens. His tireless efforts and
19 faithful public service merit our highest regards and
20 best wishes for continued success.

21 We salute and congratulate you, our commander
22 Jeffrey S. Romeo. The Detroit Board of Police
23 Commissioners. Adopted by the Board of Police
24 Commissioners on this day, June 27th, 2013.

25 I'd like to move for adoption.

1 COMMISSIONER WHITE: Support.

2 COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: It's been properly
3 moved and supported that the resolution honoring
4 Commander Jeffrey Romeo be a part of our permanent
5 archives. All those in favor?

6 COMMISSIONERS: Aye.

7 COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: All those opposed?
8 The motion carries. Again, that decision is unanimous.
9 Thank you. Can we take -- first of all, do you have
10 anything you want to say?

11 COMMANDER ROMER: Briefly. For the record,
12 Commander Jeff Romeo, for the next two days. I want to
13 thank the board for your commitment and leadership, as
14 well, for all you've done on your leadership,
15 Commissioner Warfield, two terms as chairperson, and
16 Commissioner White, your term, as well. You all -- and
17 the board as a whole. You move things forward
18 tremendously. And with the support we've had with you
19 all, our police department really moved the ball
20 forward with the consent judgment compliance. So I've
21 got to thank everybody in this department for all the
22 support we've gotten in our office.

23 COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: Well, thank you. We
24 want to take a picture with you, too. So don't go no
25 where.

1 Is Police Officer Espinoza here? Police
2 Officer Espinoza? At this time, we want to ask if the
3 vice chair would read the resolve clause for Police
4 Officer -- honoring Police Officer Espinoza.

5 COMMISSIONER TAYLOR: Okay. Now, therefore,
6 be it resolved that the board -- Detroit Board of
7 Commissioners speaking on behalf of the citizens of the
8 City of Detroit and the Detroit Police Department
9 recognize and honor the lifelong commitment of Police
10 Officer Grigg Espinoza. He served the Detroit Police
11 Department and the City of Detroit with loyalty,
12 professionalism, integrity, and dedication. He is
13 widely respected throughout the law enforcement
14 community as the consummate professional. We thank and
15 congratulate you, Police Officer Grigg Espinoza.
16 Detroit Board of Police Commissioners. Adopted by the
17 Board of Police Commissioners on this day, June 27,
18 2013.

19 Mr. Chair, I move for adoption.

20 COMMISSIONER WHITE: Support.

21 COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: Having been properly
22 moved and supported, we adopt the resolution that
23 honors Police Officer Greg Espinoza for his years of
24 dedication and service to the Detroit Police
25 Department. Any discussion? Hearing and seeing none,

1 all those in favor?

2 COMMISSIONERS: Aye.

3 COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: All those opposed?
4 Motion carried. And this resolution will also be a
5 part of our permanent archives in this office.

6 There is another resolution that we want to
7 read before you. And some of you may or may not
8 know -- most of you probably do not know. Well, you
9 know that our terms expire after five years of service.
10 However, as we come to the end of the term for
11 Commissioner Stewart, who's not here today, we are
12 going to ask -- well, let me backtrack.

13 First of all, we've asked and reminded the
14 mayor that we needed another appointee to serve on the
15 board in order that we may do the due diligence of the
16 board and do our work that we need to do. And we're
17 asking today the emergency manager to override the
18 charter as it relates to term of office in order that
19 Commissioner Tony Stewart can remain seated until his
20 replacement is secure in order that we may continue to
21 move the business of the board forward. There's some
22 things that we cannot do unless we have at least four
23 members here present on the board as relates to the
24 1997 charter. And this is the resolution we're about
25 to read in the record.

1 Whereas -- I'm sorry. Detroit Board of
2 Police Commissioners, Resolution Requesting Extension
3 of Police Commissioner Tony Stewart's Term.

4 Whereas, the 2012 Detroit City Charter, here
5 after the new charter, gives the Board of Police
6 Commissioners, hereafter the board, supervisory control
7 and oversight over the functions of the police
8 department.

9 And whereas, in section 7-801, the new
10 charter provides that the board will be composed of
11 eleven members, seven of whom will be elected from each
12 non at-large district, and four members appointed by
13 the mayor subject to the approval of the Detroit City
14 Council.

15 And whereas, the board composition and
16 operations since passage of the new charter has been
17 governed by the 1997 City Charter, hereafter the old
18 charter, because of the City of Detroit has not held a
19 city wide election to choose the elected members.

20 And whereas, the voters will choose the
21 elected members in the November 2013 general election.

22 And whereas, under the old charter,
23 affirmative vote for four of the five appointed
24 commissioners was required to determine disciplinary
25 issues and suspensions without pay matters.

1 And whereas, Commissioner Tony Stewart's term
2 as a police commissioner expires on July 1, 2013, which
3 will leave the board of three sittings commissioners.

4 And whereas the board will be unable to
5 address its charter mandated responsibilities with only
6 three sitting commissioners.

7 And whereas, the City of Detroit is under the
8 authority of an emergency manager, Mr. Kevin Orr, who
9 can exercise extraordinary powers under the laws of the
10 State of Michigan which include, in the board's
11 opinion, the authority to waive provisions of the new
12 charter.

13 And whereas, the new charter prohibits an
14 appointed person from serving beyond the term of their
15 appointment. And that's in Section 7-802.

16 And whereas, the board believes that
17 Mr. Orr can waive the aforementioned provision of the
18 new charter and hold commissioner Stewart over until
19 either one, the mayor names his replacement and the
20 appointment is approved; or two, the newly elected
21 commissioners have been elected and sworn, whichever
22 occurs first.

23 Now, therefore, be it resolved that the board
24 requests that the emergency manager waive that
25 provision of the new charter prohibiting an appointee

1 -- I'm sorry. Prohibiting an appointed police
2 commissioner from serving beyond the term of their
3 appointments as it states in Section 7-802.

4 And, be it further resolved, that the board
5 requests that the emergency manager hold Commissioner
6 Stewart over until either the mayor names his
7 replacement and appointment is approved, or two, the
8 newly elected commissioners have been elected and
9 sworn, whichever occurs first.

10 Board, this is the resolution that we are
11 proposing. I move for adoption.

12 COMMISSIONER TAYLOR: So move.

13 COMMISSIONER WHITE: Support.

14 COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: It's been -- the
15 motion is supported. Any discussion? Any discussion?
16 Hearing and seeing none, all those in favor of
17 approving the resolution?

18 COMMISSIONERS: Aye.

19 COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: All those opposed?
20 All those abstained? Motion carries. Thank you.

21 All right. We move to the time where we are
22 -- we need to nominate the person who will serve as
23 chair for the 2013 -2014 year. And the floor is now
24 open for nominations.

25 COMMISSIONER WHITE: I nominate Jessica

1 Taylor for chairperson.

2 UNIDENTIFIED AUDIENCE MEMBER: I second.

3 COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: Is there support? I
4 support. It's been properly moved and supported. Are
5 there anymore nominations? I move that nominations be
6 closed.

7 COMMISSIONER WHITE: Support.

8 COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: There's been properly
9 moved and support that nominations be closed.

10 Commissioner Jessica Taylor will be the new chairperson
11 for the Board of Police Commissioners beginning July 1,
12 2013.

13 Nominations for vice chairperson?

14 COMMISSIONER TAYLOR: I nominate Donnell
15 White.

16 COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: I support.

17 COMMISSIONER WHITE: I accept.

18 COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: Are there any other
19 nominations? I move the nominations be closed. All
20 those in favor of -- well, no. We don't have to vote.
21 Mr. Chairman -- I'm sorry. Mr. Commissioner Donnell
22 White will be the vice chairperson for the Police
23 Commissioners for the year 2013 -2014. Give him a
24 hand.

25 Under old business I'm going to ask Deputy

1 Chief if he can weigh in on the towing issue question
2 that came up a few weeks ago. As a matter of fact,
3 there's another towing issue I want to weigh in on.

4 DEPUTY CHIEF TOLBERT: Good afternoon. I
5 will ask -- does everybody have one? Does everybody
6 have a package? Okay.

7 If you remember, last week there was a
8 concern about the NIP-IT detail and the tows given by
9 the NIP-IT details. I have instructed Lieutenant Baron
10 who runs the NIP-IT detail to prepare a document that
11 basically details how the tows are made, who received
12 the tows, so that there would be transparency in the
13 way we operate.

14 I would caution the board when you look at
15 this what you'll see is the NIP-IT details due to the
16 crime issues within the city, therefore, the -- you
17 will see certain areas that will have more occurrences
18 of NIP-IT than others. And that's simply because of
19 the crime in those areas. But you will see the break
20 down of the tows. And I will turn now it over to
21 Lieutenant Elvin Barren.

22 LIEUTENANT BARREN: For the record, Lieutenant
23 Elvin Barren, Command Officer, Tactical Support.

24 As the Deputy Chief stated, I was instructed
25 to prepare a document that detailed how we deploy. And

1 first I would like to start by telling you how we come
2 about getting the tow companies.

3 Prior to each NIP-IT deployment, we have an
4 officer from traffic enforcement who will be assigned a
5 towing detail. And what he's responsible for doing is
6 calling over to the communications section.
7 Communications will provide a control number for that
8 district of the precincts that we are assigned to.
9 And, also, they will provide the tow companies that are
10 to rotate for the detail. And as the Deputy Chief
11 mentioned, we do spend a lot of time in the Eastern and
12 Northwestern District as the report will show you. We
13 do venture outside of those deployment for other
14 hotspots that may come up during the months. Also, for
15 -- for example, we went downtown last week. We were
16 scheduled to go into the Eastern and Northwest
17 District. But due to inelegance that came in regarding
18 gang activities that may deploy down into the downtown
19 area, due to that rap concert of Young Jeezy, due to
20 the high volumes of people down for River Days, we
21 redeployed and enabled Central District to combat that
22 type of criminal element.

23 So as stated before, some tow companies will
24 not be called upon because we deploy based on crime
25 driven statistics.

1 COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: Thank you. Thank
2 you, sir. Any questions for Lieutenant Barren?

3 COMMISSIONER WHITE: Thank you, Lieutenant,
4 for that information. Just as a point of clarity, as
5 I'm looking at the report, is it accurate that the
6 towing began on March 7th, 2013, to the current tow
7 period of June 22, 2013?

8 LIEUTENANT BARREN: That's correct. And
9 NIP-IT had started this week. We're in the 16th week.
10 We will -- I'm in the process of preparing a document
11 for the new chief. It's going to stop. The document
12 goes to the new chief. He'll decide whether NIP-IT
13 will continue or cease.

14 COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: I'm going to ask if,
15 Mr. Brown, you can make this report available to the
16 towers and our office, that they'll be able to review
17 this because it's a lot of pages obviously from many
18 weeks that you all were out there out there doing the
19 report. But thank you, sir, for providing the report.
20 Deputy Chief, anything else?

21 DEPUTY CHIEF TOLBERT: No. That's all.

22 COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: Thank you. I
23 appreciate you getting back so quickly. I appreciate
24 that.

25 In addition, there was an item that came up

1 last week at our board meeting regarding the tow fee,
2 specifically those tows that went to -- that were
3 forfeiture and crime vehicles. And we received some
4 communication from Mr. Jack Morton as relates to what
5 the Tow Rate Commission had in mind when they set the
6 fees. And if it's okay, I would just like to read his
7 letter that he addressed to the board into the record.

8 June 23, 2013, Board of Police Commissioners,
9 Detroit Police Department, 1300 Beaubian, Detroit,
10 Michigan, 48226. Regarding evidence and forfeiture
11 towing fees.

12 Dear Commissioners, fees for the towing of
13 vehicles to the Detroit Police Department evidence and
14 forfeiture facilities were discussed at your meeting on
15 June the 20th, 2013. During those discussions, the
16 commissioners questioned if the Tow Rate Commission
17 considered evidence and forfeiture tows when making the
18 recommendations to the Detroit City Counsel. As a
19 member of the Tow Rate Commission, I can -- I'm sorry.
20 Commission. I can state that the members of the Tow
21 Rate Commission did, in fact, discuss and consider the
22 rates for evidence and forfeiture tows. The members
23 discussed and considered various rates for the evidence
24 and forfeiture tows. Rates have been based on mileage
25 -- I'm sorry. Yeah. Rates based on mileage, different

1 rates from each district, and flat rates both higher
2 and lower than regular impound tows. The rates for
3 evidence and forfeiture tows were \$50 and \$35
4 respectively at that time. The members considered the
5 complaints of the authorized towers who stated that
6 they not only lost money on each of these tows, but
7 they lost their rotational slots and an opportunity to
8 receive additional revenue from storage and scrap.
9 Most authorized towers stated that the driver's pay was
10 more than the tow rate they received without even
11 considering their other expenses. During the
12 discussion regarding evidence and forfeiture tow rates,
13 the commissioners were informed by authorized towers
14 that the manpower equipment fuel and necessary time to
15 tow a vehicle to the evidence or forfeiture facility
16 was at least equal to and most times greater than
17 towing to a private impound facility. After all of the
18 discussions, the commissioners voted to recommend one
19 tow rate. And the rates for evidence and forfeiture
20 vehicles would be the same as any other tow rate. The
21 Tow Rate Commission recommends to the -- I'm sorry. To
22 the Detroit City Council, copy is attached, for towing
23 services states to private or city storage. There is
24 no exception or different rate for evidence or
25 forfeiture tows. Any tow within the different weight

1 class should be charged at the same rate regardless of
2 the location of storage. The Detroit City Counsel
3 ultimately approved the rates recommended by the Tow
4 Rate Commission. I cannot be present at your next
5 meeting. However, I will request Attorney Tom Stiffen
6 to read this letter -- I'm sorry. To read this letter
7 into the record. If I can be of further assistance,
8 please feel free to contact me. Thank you, Jack
9 Morton, member of the Tow Rate Commission. Of course,
10 attached is the actual Tow Rate Commission
11 recommendation for the tow rate change to the Detroit
12 City Counsel.

13 One of the questions certainly, the
14 prevailing question that came up in our meetings from
15 last week was can the department change that tow rate,
16 because in previous years that had been the case. But
17 obviously the Tow Rate Commission made that decision.
18 City Counsel who is an elected body voted on it and
19 that's that. If the towers or if the department wants
20 that rate changed, I believe the proper process is to
21 go back to the Tow Rate Commission and allow the tow
22 rate commission to make a recommendation and send that
23 on to City Counsel. But I do not believe -- and my
24 lawyers can correct me. I do not believe that we are
25 in the position as a department to change the rates

1 that an elected body has voted into law. Okay? So
2 hopefully that settles that issue. If you have any
3 questions, Commander, or anybody has any questions
4 about that, certainly we're available. We can talk
5 about it moving forward if you think we need to do
6 something differently, talk about it, talk to us about
7 it, we can see what we need to do moving forward.

8 Okay. Thank you. That takes care of our old
9 business.

10 Our next meeting will be on Tuesday, July
11 the 2nd. Tuesday July 2nd, 3:00 p.m., at Police
12 Headquarters, 1300 Beaubian, room 328-A.

13 Now, what's interesting is that tomorrow to
14 announce there will be a ribbon cutting ceremony for
15 the new Public Safety Headquarters which is the old MGM
16 Grand Casino right there off the Lodge Freeway. I
17 guess the address is 1300 -- 1301 Lodge. And so those
18 of you who wish to come, I believe the start time is at
19 10:00 a.m. 10:00 a.m. tomorrow. I'm sure you all are
20 welcome to come and join us as we cut the ribbon to the
21 new Public Safety Headquarters.

22 At this time, we will open up the floor for
23 oral communications. And those who wish to address the
24 Board of Police Commissioners, please come to the
25 podium right here in the center. Please give us your

1 full first and last name. And you may want to spell it
2 for the record. And we ask that you abide by our two
3 minute time limit so that we can hear from as many
4 responders as possible. You may come at this time.

5 MR. MORRISON: Good afternoon, everybody.

6 COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: Good afternoon.

7 MR. MORRISON: I'd like to say thank you for
8 this opportunity to appear before each and every one of
9 you. My name is Boyd Morrison, and I'm here
10 unfortunately as a dejected and devastated uncle who
11 lost his nephew here May the 1st, 2013, on Eight Mile
12 and Gratiot in an incident that involved an off-duty
13 Detroit Transit Police Officer. And we're now going 48
14 plus days in this investigation. And in this
15 investigation, that particular day, the scene was
16 processed by Detroit Police, and evidence that was
17 gathered at that particular scene was turned over to
18 the homicide division. Again, this is 48 days and
19 growing. We haven't brought forward an arrest of this
20 particular known identified shooter who was in the
21 custody of the police department on that particular day
22 and we released him. I'm concerned and truly outraged
23 that we haven't brought anybody forward at this
24 particular point who took the short lived life of my
25 26-year-old nephew here in City of Detroit on Eight

1 Mile just trying to sell his CDs. He was an up and
2 coming musician from the City of Detroit with an 18
3 track CD ready to be produced and promoted throughout
4 this city. But he had his short-lived life taken away.
5 I'm truly outraged to come back in town just to make
6 sure that his particular death is being and continues
7 to be heard, felt, and investigated tremendously here
8 in the City of Detroit by any means necessary to bring
9 forward this off-duty Detroit Transit Police Officer
10 which means he was a civilian at that time and used a
11 city issued weapon to take the short-lived life of my
12 nephew. I would like to know the name of this
13 individual because it's been withheld from the family.
14 We'd like to know any other additional information
15 within respect and not trying to do anything with the
16 evidence -- I mean, the investigation. But this is
17 something -- my nephew is known throughout this city,
18 and we should know this person who deliberately,
19 intentionally, purposely, and willingly and
20 deliberately took the life of my particular nephew. I
21 would like to have some answers. I would like to speak
22 to someone who can give me some clarification relative
23 to this particular investigation. I truly appreciate
24 the time and thank you very much.

25 COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: Thank you,

1 Mr. Morrison. You can stay right there, please. I'm
2 going to try and give you some help today. First of
3 all, let me say thank you for coming on behalf of your
4 family and more particularly your nephew. We want to
5 -- I'm sorry. We want to work with you to make sure
6 that we get you the help that you need.

7 And I'm going to ask that, Deputy Chief, if
8 you can address him at this time.

9 DEPUTY CHIEF TOLBERT: First of all, I know
10 this is a loss, Mr. Morrison. You have to understand
11 the process of what goes on. We have -- if you -- you
12 say there's an identified shooter. Regardless of
13 whether he's an off-duty transit officer or not,
14 there's a process that we have to go through so that we
15 ensure a thorough and complete investigation. And
16 there can be cases where we have people that have
17 police powers. There is an extra fine level of review
18 by the Wayne County Prosecutor's Office after the
19 investigation. I don't know particularly where your
20 case is right now. But I would assume at this point
21 there has to be some review by the Wayne County
22 Prosecutor's Office.

23 What I'll do is I will find out exactly.
24 I'll get your number, and I will find out exactly where
25 the case is. And we will take care and I will call you

1 personally and let you know where the case is.

2 MR. MORRISON: I appreciate that. Just to
3 let you know, Kim's office doesn't have it. I spoke to
4 them already. They called back to Sergeant Davis, as
5 well as Officer Miller. And it's still in the Detroit
6 Police stages. So Kim Worthy's office is still waiting
7 to receive this information. And the evidence, again,
8 has been gathered and collected. And I respectfully
9 understand the process. But the process is still 48
10 days and growing. And you had evidence. You had eye
11 witnesses from that particular day one that should have
12 warranted this person to be in custody and remanded by
13 the police on that particular day, which it hadn't
14 been.

15 DEPUTY CHIEF TOLBERT: I have to caution you.
16 There are many reasons why we can't present a case and
17 some points to the prosecutor's office. And sometimes
18 it's what they require and how long it takes us to get
19 that. You know, I don't know -- and I don't know what
20 the situation is right now. That's why I need to find
21 out, and I'll get back with you.

22 MR. MORRISON: Sure. I appreciate that.

23 DEPUTY CHIEF TOLBERT: Sometimes some of the
24 holdup, they don't want us to present a case until we
25 have certain things. And if we haven't received those

1 things for whatever reason, they won't even take the
2 case. So just the fact that it's not there doesn't
3 mean that we don't want to present it.

4 MR. MORRISON: Sure.

5 DEPUTY CHIEF TOLBERT: If you understand what
6 I'm saying. So let me find out exactly what the issues
7 are. I'll get your information, and I'll call you --
8 personally call you and give you that information.

9 MR. MORRISON: I truly appreciate it.

10 COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: I'm going to ask,
11 Deputy Chief, if we can get an update because I think
12 you're the second or third member of the family to
13 inquire on this. And we certainly want to be of better
14 assistance to you than we have been.

15 MR. MORRISON: I appreciate it. I'm not
16 quite sure. It was my brother here. That was his only
17 son. And he just so happened to pass away right before
18 -- his 27th birthday was June the 14th. And my brother
19 had to endure that and then two or three days later was
20 Father's Day. His only son.

21 COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: Right.

22 MR. MORRISON: I truly appreciate it very
23 much for your time.

24 COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: Thank you, sir.

25 MS. MCCANTS: Good afternoon. My name is

1 Yolanda McCants from the Northeastern District. And
2 good afternoon again to this board. And I would just
3 like to commend our officers on our firework detail,
4 that we were like top notch. Okay. And even the
5 little incident that happened down by the city county
6 building -- I happened to be in that particular area.
7 And it was kind of bad, but we weathered the storm.
8 And I had children with me, also. So that was kind of
9 devastating for them because they had never experienced
10 anything like that. So it's something that they can
11 look at and decide that's not what they want to do.

12 But I'm also here to invite this board
13 including the ladies, to our Detroit Police Citizen
14 Academy alumni picnic which is June -- July the 10th.
15 Dinner served -- lunch is served at noon. And we're in
16 Shelter 8 out at Belle Isle.

17 COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: What time?

18 MS. MCCANTS: Noon.

19 COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: Okay.

20 COMMISSIONER TAYLOR: Shelter 8?

21 MS. MCCANTS: Yes. And I will be looking for
22 this board.

23 COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: All right. You've
24 got food, right? We will be there. Thank you,
25 Ms. McCants.

1 MR. WELBORNE: Good afternoon to the board.
2 My name is Bill Welborne, W-e-l-b-o-r-n-e. I'm the
3 president of City Wide Detroit Police Community
4 Relations. I just wanted to send a note to Chief Logan
5 to thank him for the help he's given me over the years.

6 When I first became president of City Wide,
7 City Wide was falling apart, and I was trying to get it
8 back together. And Chief Logan, he came to my aide.
9 He helped me quite a bit. He asked me what I needed,
10 and he delivered on everything that we needed. And
11 what really fascinated me most was in December he came
12 to a meeting which we had here and he brought his wife
13 with him. It was the last time we as a whole saw her
14 together. And it meant a lot to me, especially within
15 the last couple weeks. But I just, again, want to
16 thank him. And I don't know if I'll get a chance to
17 talk to him again because I've talked to him a couple
18 times. But I don't know if I'll get a chance to talk
19 to him again, but I just want to relay that message to
20 him.

21 COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: Thank you, sir.

22 MS. PANNELL: Good afternoon. Sharon
23 Pannell, P-a-n-n-e-l-l. I just want to say thank you
24 for the good job that you all are doing. And Chief
25 Logan was the only chief that seemed to understand the

1 needs of the community. And I really appreciate that
2 because I don't like all that stress in my
3 neighborhood. And he took care of it. And I
4 personally have my own retirement card for him. And I
5 just wanted to say -- tell him thank you. And I want
6 to know -- make sure that the other chief know, new
7 chief know that we do need NIP-IT.

8 COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: Yes, ma'am.

9 COMMISSIONER TAYLOR: Yes, ma'am.

10 COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: Yes, ma'am. Thank
11 you. You'll be able to tell him yourself. Yes, ma'am.

12 MR. ERRIGO: Greg Errigo, E-r-r-i-g-o. Owner
13 of Michigan Auto Recovery, police impound yard. Good
14 afternoon, board, chief. Congratulations on your new
15 appointments. That's always a pleasure.

16 The reason why I'm here today is I've got to
17 tell you I was on Belle Isle for the fireworks. I was
18 working the detail. All the way from -- and I've got
19 to compliment the City of Detroit Police Department,
20 all the way from Commander Love, Lieutenant Mike Adams,
21 absolutely 110 percent perfect. They did it the way it
22 should be done. They had the lot covered. They had it
23 manned. They had it chalked for the parking spots.
24 The officers they had on detail was absolutely perfect.
25 Everything was perfect. We didn't tow a lot of cars

1 because the officers had everything under control.
2 They had it under control perfectly, to be honest with
3 you. They did an excellent job. There was no stress.
4 There was no disarray. And I was absolutely shocked.
5 They closed Belle Isle down at 8:00. It was perfect.
6 And we -- the reason why we didn't tow any cars is
7 because everybody was just listening to the officers.
8 There was enough officers there. There was enough
9 officers manned at every corner. There was enough
10 officers strategically placed where there wouldn't be
11 any problems. If there was, they were on it in a
12 second. Everybody was happy. Everybody was having
13 fun. We towed one car. But they gave the gentleman
14 minutes and minutes and minutes to come, but he didn't.
15 But that's why we towed it. And then he came, and they
16 were accommodating to him. They explained to him
17 perfectly of how much the fee was and why. I was
18 there. I can tell you firsthand. They did an
19 excellent job. And I take my hat off to them. And I
20 will work detail anytime. This is the first time I
21 worked it, and I just was on Belle Isle. I'm just
22 talking about Belle Isle and everything. And it was
23 superb. It was excellent. And I do take my hat off to
24 the officer, the commander, the chief that worked all
25 that. They did an excellent job, excellent.

1 COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: Thank you, sir. I
2 appreciate that. Thank you, department, again for what
3 you do. Anyone else? Yes, sir.

4 MR. BROCK: Yes. Good afternoon.
5 Commissioners. My name is Dennis Brock. I'm the owner
6 operator of BBK Towing and Recovery, Inc. That's
7 D-e-n-n-i-s B-r-o-c-k. Yes. I come here in front of
8 you to kind of ask a favor. I kind of want to find out
9 if there's anything that you could do to add the
10 smaller companies in on other precincts opposed to one.
11 I don't have a problem with Central. I love everybody
12 at Central. Central been good to me. But I would like
13 to get another district or a precinct to kind of help
14 me boost up a little bit of work at my company. And I
15 know, you know, Commissioner Warfield has been working
16 with me and talking to me about it. And I give you
17 kudos because you have been there for me. And I just
18 want to ask just if anything can be done.

19 COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: Here's the thing.
20 First of all, thank you, Mr. Brock, for coming. And we
21 said this at several meetings ago, that we recognize
22 that it's our job to make sure that there's equal and
23 -- as close as possible equitable towing that goes on
24 across all the districts and with all towers, that we
25 do have to look at the Central District. Here's what

1 we do know. We do know that the Central District gets
2 less towers, probably half less towers than any other
3 district in the City of Detroit. But we still have the
4 same amount of towers in the district. So we have to
5 look at that. And I'm sure under the able and capable
6 leadership of Commissioner Taylor and White, that they
7 will begin to convene some hearings and schedule some
8 public comment sessions where they can actually look at
9 that because I think it does need to be looked at.
10 What can we do from an adjustment standpoint to make
11 sure that there's six towers in Central District or
12 either reduced to three towers or something else can be
13 done to make sure that there's more equal -- within the
14 confines of the rules, of course. We can't just
15 arbitrarily throw people places. But we have to stick
16 within the confines of the rules, and we will look into
17 that.

18 MR. BROCK: Okay. I appreciate it. Thank
19 you.

20 COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: Thank you.

21 MS. SMITH: Good afternoon. Denise Smith,
22 political activist. Well, I guess I better give you
23 some kudos, too, because you did a hell of a good job.
24 I think I worried you about three or four times because
25 some people called me and wanted to get down to Chene

1 Park but they couldn't get there because the state
2 police was blocking off Jefferson so they couldn't get
3 through. And poor Deputy Tolbert was on the line, too.
4 So we had a three-way conversation. But anyway, they
5 made it to their own destination by going to their
6 sister's apartment. So they were able to be
7 comfortable. But I do appreciate the fact that you're
8 taking time on the phone. And you, too, Deputy Tolbert
9 because we worried the heck out of him, I know.

10 In the meantime, I'm concerned about what's
11 going on with the police department and what's going to
12 happen to the police department. I know most of you
13 know what the EM is going to do as far as nominating
14 you know who Brown as his director. And I've been
15 upset ever since.

16 Let me finish. You going to put the sign up
17 already?

18 Anyway, I'm going to be nice tonight because
19 of the fact that we all are on edge. And I know most
20 of you, you're worried about what he's going to do
21 because he's in a position now where he can do whatever
22 he want to do. With all the income that he has, he
23 feels as though he is -- he's over the mayor in other
24 words because it was -- there was a discussion in
25 regards to what he was going to do and what position

1 that the mayor has now. So I want all of you to be
2 aware and to know that it's not over yet. It's just
3 the beginning because he didn't venture to Lansing for
4 nothing. All right? And there were several
5 discussions with not only the governor but with Dillon.
6 So, therefore, that's the gray that he -- well, that's
7 the way that he wanted it to be. But anyway, we have a
8 problem with the counsel because we don't have anybody
9 at the counsel. And that's chaos. So we just have to
10 pray. That's all I want to tell you. Just pray.
11 Warfield, throw out some prayers for all of us because
12 we certainly do need it because this city is not
13 getting any better. It's getting worse. You having
14 candidates that going to be coming before you. Be sure
15 you know who the candidates are and don't just pick
16 anybody on name recognition. Come to me. I'll tell
17 you who's good, believe me. And you know I won't bite
18 my tongue about it. But I will tell you this. This is
19 a good city. It is a good city. Where I live in
20 Midtown, I told most of the people there on Saturday
21 that was marching welcome to Midtown. You can come
22 here and live if you want to because we're safe down
23 here. In the meantime, I did talk with some of the
24 executives and dignitaries there. So they know that
25 we're suffering here in this city. And it's just for

1 us to just wait and see what's going to happen and
2 throw up some prayers every now and then and believe
3 that the good Lord is watching, also. And I just want
4 to let you know they're down there, and they won't
5 leave until tomorrow. But he's going to be down there
6 in Florida with Dennis Archer and his attorney and
7 other folks. I'm just giving you the -- what's going
8 on this weekend. So they're going to be celebrating
9 the fact that he has this position. Dennis Archer is
10 in on this, also, with his attorney. So, you know,
11 they all got property down there. So I just want to
12 let you know. I don't want to keep you in the dark.
13 So just figure out what they're doing down there. And
14 I'm going to sit down. But thank you so much for
15 listening to me because I'm going to tell you the truth
16 about what's going on in the City and who's doing what.
17 COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: Thank you, ma'am.

18 Let me say this while you're still standing there. And
19 I think you bring up a good point. This department has
20 come a long way, and this board has worked with this
21 department. We have been in the trenches together.
22 And I guarantee you that this board will be very
23 vigilant and very vocal as relates to the progress that
24 has already been made. And regardless of who holds
25 what position, we will back the men and women of this

1 department as we always have.

2 MS. SMITH: Thank you. Uh-huh.

3 COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: And we will stand
4 against anybody --

5 MS. SMITH: Because it's their lives out
6 there.

7 COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: -- who wants to
8 derail the significant progress that the men and women
9 of this department has fought for. So, you know, we
10 hope and pray and believe that, you know, whatever
11 officers or whoever has responsibility, whether it's
12 the new Chief of Police or someone else, we will stand
13 lock and step with our citizens and with the men and
14 women of this department to make sure that the progress
15 that has been made will not regress and it gets better,
16 not worse.

17 MS. SMITH: Let's hope so. I do pray for
18 that.

19 COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: Thank you.

20 MS. SMITH: In the meantime, I did call the
21 office and ask for Mr. O. So I'm waiting for his
22 returned call. So I'll get a chance to talk with him
23 soon, believe me.

24 COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: Yes, ma'am. Thank
25 you again.

1 MS. ROMANO: Good afternoon. Anna Romano. I
2 just want to say NIP-IT has been a great success within
3 the Eastern District. My pastor at Assumption Ground
4 Church has noticed a difference in this area. This
5 year he decided to come to the fireworks, and he took
6 his 93-year old mother in a wheelchair to Hart Plaza.
7 He was very impressed with the Detroit Police
8 Department, how everything ran smoothly. And they had
9 a great time. He even mentioned it this Sunday. So he
10 just went to his congregation. And he wanted me to
11 thank everyone and to let them know how he appreciates
12 the department and the great work that they're doing.

13 COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: Thank you.

14 MS. ROMANO: Thank you.

15 COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: And tell him we said
16 thank you.

17 MS. ROMANO: I will.

18 COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: Thank you.

19 MR. SCOTT: This is Ron Scott. I just want
20 to thank all of you commissioners for doing a good job.
21 And, Commissioner Taylor, I'm glad to see that there's
22 a woman at the helm at this particular point. It might
23 give us some hope right there. But what I do want to
24 say is that I'm too concerned about also what's
25 happening with Gary Brown and what's going on and what

1 happened today with the EM with the proposed
2 decommissioning of the Lieutenants and Sergeants
3 Association and so on. There seems to be a form of
4 restructuring transformation of the DPD. So we'll find
5 out what it's going to be.

6 In that light -- and you were mentioning the
7 benefits and changes that have been made. Let me bring
8 this to your attention. Last week I was right down the
9 street over in New Field. We had a hip hop coalition
10 meeting. There were about 100 young people. Huel
11 Perkins was there. Chief Judge of the 36th District
12 Court was there. And we are doing things called change
13 the flow where we change the flow of the music and
14 hopefully have an impact on antisocial behavior.
15 Within that light, I'm going to say this unabashedly in
16 view of the recent voting rights decision. I'm
17 concerned about the status and the survival of black
18 men, young black men and black women. And I don't like
19 to see them criminalized when, in fact, they don't
20 deserve it. I appreciate what the department did this
21 weekend. But I don't like to see the hands of young
22 black men tied behind their back for curfew violations.
23 I doubt very seriously that it would happen on Lake
24 Shore Drive with young white men in Grosse Pointe when
25 they have that happen. And I'm concerned about that.

1 Take them home. Take them to the precinct, call their
2 parents. But they don't have to be automatically seen
3 as having committed a crime even though they may have
4 had an infraction. I think we need to think about
5 imaging. We throw around the term here in this meeting
6 of hot spots. And I know that's supposed be data
7 driven. But recently someone came in our office, one
8 woman had a fifteen year old daughter and seventeen
9 year old son, both graduated from a private school.
10 She works at a credit union. There was a mistaken bust
11 at their house. The children were handcuffed, made to
12 lay on the ground. And when the mother got there, she
13 was told oh, even though we were wrong, this is a hot
14 area. It went to the commission. It wasn't sustained.
15 They said it's a hot area. We should not confuse data
16 driven policing with stereotyping and racism. This
17 week we should look at that flag, and we should think
18 about who we are as people. And we need to think about
19 that. I just want to bring that to your attention.

20 COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: Thank you, sir.

21 MR. ADAMS: Good afternoon. Good afternoon.
22 My name is Tom Adams, business owner, City of Detroit.
23 And I just want to say that I want to thank the chair
24 for the boldness that you show, the persistence, the
25 dedication to maintain and sticking to the charter.

1 And even though you are an appointed person, you have
2 not let that dictate your actions, that you've moved
3 forward with gusto. And I extend that to the rest of
4 the commissioners for doing the same thing because I
5 know they've had to have that support. But it really
6 takes courage to get out here and do what's right,
7 especially in a very highly charged political city such
8 as Detroit. And I've lived in Detroit all my life,
9 lifelong Detroiter. And I've never lived outside of
10 the City of Detroit except when I went to school. I
11 just want to thank you for your boldness. And I want
12 to congratulate the two new officers coming in,
13 Ms. Taylor as chair, Mr. White as vice chair. I think
14 you guys are just going to continue to do an awesome
15 job. As I look around the City of Detroit and to the
16 police department, the presence that I've seen over the
17 last three months has just been awesome. I mean, I
18 truly feel safe. When I ride through the streets I see
19 two or three cars at every venue. I see people being
20 stopped. I mean, you just have that security presence
21 that is there, and that makes people really feel like
22 you're on the job. I just want to thank all of you for
23 that, department and commissioners.

24 COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: Thank you, sir. Are
25 there others? Others? Others? At this time we will

1 close that section of our meeting and entertain a
2 motion to adjourn.

3 COMMISSIONER WHITE: So moved.

4 COMMISSIONER TAYLOR: Support.

5 COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: It's been properly
6 moved and supported. All those in favor?

7 COMMISSIONERS: Aye.

8 COMMISSIONER WARFIELD: The meeting is
9 adjourned. Thank you, ladies and gentlemen.

10 (Meeting concluded at 4:31 p.m.)

11 * * *

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

CERTIFICATE OF NOTARY PUBLIC

STATE OF MICHIGAN)
)
COUNTY OF MACOMB)

I, Trisha N. Houpt, Certified Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the State of Michigan, do hereby certify that the witness whose attached deposition was taken before me in the above cause was first duly sworn or affirmed to testify to the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth; that the testimony contained herein was by me reduced to writing in the presence of the witness by means of Stenography; afterwards transcribed by means of computer-aided transcription; and that the deposition is a true and complete transcript of the testimony given by the witness to the best of my ability. I further certify I am not connected by blood or marriage with any of the parties, their attorneys or agents; that I am not an employee of either of them; and that I am not interested directly, indirectly, or financially in the matter of controversy.



Trisha Houpt

Trisha N. Houpt, RPR, CSR-6175
Notary Public, Macomb County, Michigan
My Commission Expires 5-24-18

A
abide 41:2
ability 18:24
 19:24 20:1
 61:16
able 5:13 15:14
 16:9 36:16
 48:11 51:5
 52:6
absolutely 48:21
 48:24 49:4
abstained 32:20
academic 21:13
academy 18:5,9
 25:12 46:14
accept 33:17
accommodating
 49:16
accomplishments
 9:1
accreditation
 25:20
accurate 36:5
achieve 9:16
 21:12
acknowledge 7:10
action 15:21
actions 59:2
active 20:15
Actively 20:5
activist 51:22
activities 35:18
actual 39:10
Adams 48:20
 58:21,22
add 50:9
addition 17:19
 36:25
additional 38:8
 42:14
address 10:4
 31:5 40:17,23
 43:8
addressed 37:7
adjourn 60:2
adjourned 60:9
adjustment 51:10
adjutant 19:13
administration
 25:19
adopt 28:22

adopted 23:8
 26:23 28:16
adopting 23:20
adoption 23:10
 26:25 28:19
 32:11
advanced 21:13
advise 19:3
advised 11:14
affairs 10:22
 11:10,13 25:15
 25:18
affirmative
 30:23
affirmed 61:9
aforementioned
 31:17
afternoon 3:2
 12:22 34:4
 41:5,6 45:25
 46:2 47:1,22
 48:14 50:4
 51:21 56:1
 58:21,21
agencies 13:16
agenda 5:18,20
 5:25
agents 61:18
ago 4:8 10:7
 34:2 50:21
agree 8:6,6,6,6
aide 47:8
Alan 3:24
Albert 34:21,23
allegation 10:25
alleged 10:25
allow 5:3,12
 39:21
alumni 46:14
amen 5:15,16
amendment 5:20
America 13:24
amount 51:4
analysis 13:14
Angel's 22:9
Anna 56:1
announce 40:14
annually 16:12
answers 42:21
Anthony 2:5 3:15
 3:15,18,19
 9:23 12:5,12

12:15
anticrime 22:7
antisocial 57:14
anybody 40:3
 41:23 53:8,16
 55:4
anymore 6:1
 23:14 33:5
anytime 49:20
anyway 52:4,18
 53:7
APA 11:11,15
apart 47:7
apartment 52:6
apologize 12:15
appear 10:9 41:8
APPEARANCES 2:1
application 19:3
appointed 18:2
 19:8 25:9,22
 30:12,23 31:14
 32:1 59:1
appointee 29:14
 31:25
appointment
 20:18 31:15,20
 32:7
appointments
 32:3 48:15
appreciate 4:4
 17:7 36:23,23
 42:23 44:2,22
 45:9,15,22
 48:1 50:2
 51:18 52:7
 57:20
appreciates
 56:11
appreciation
 26:10,15
appropriate 19:4
approval 5:21
 30:13
approve 5:17,19
 5:25
approved 31:20
 32:7 39:3
approving 32:17
approximately
 10:21 13:4
 16:13
April 18:3

arbitrarily
 51:15
Archer 54:6,9
archives 23:24
 27:5 29:5
area 35:19 46:6
 56:4 58:14,15
areas 34:17,19
arrest 41:19
asked 10:9 29:13
 47:9
asking 29:17
asks 11:25
aspect 14:10
assigned 10:1,20
 10:23 18:6,7,9
 18:25 19:12
 25:14 35:4,8
assignments
 25:18
assistance 39:7
 45:14
assistant 11:11
 20:19,21,25
 21:2
assisting 26:1
Association 57:3
assume 43:20
Assumption 56:3
atmosphere 4:19
attached 38:22
 39:10 61:7
attain 26:2
attendance 22:1
attention 11:24
 57:8 58:19
attorney 3:14,23
 10:3,6,7 11:11
 39:5 54:6,10
attorneys 61:18
at-large 30:12
auction 15:21
auctioneer 14:10
auctions 14:7
 16:11,14
AUDIENCE 33:2
August 19:16
authority 31:8
 31:11
authorized 38:5
 38:9,13
Auto 48:13

automatically 58:2
available 36:15
 40:4
Avenue 1:14
average 13:12
award 21:23 26:9
awards 21:25,25
 22:1,1,25 26:8
 26:15
aware 10:8 53:2
awesome 59:14,17
Aye 6:3 23:21
 27:6 29:2
 32:18 60:7
a.m 40:19,19

B

bachelor 21:16
back 6:17 36:23
 39:21 42:5
 44:4,21 47:8
 54:25 57:22
background 25:25
backtrack 17:12
 29:12
bad 46:7
Badge 9:25 10:19
 10:23
badges 5:6
ball 27:19
Banks 3:22 10:4
bar 8:16
Baron 34:9,21,22
 34:23 36:2,8
based 35:24
 37:24,25
basically 34:11
basis 22:15
BBK 50:6
beacon 5:13
beats 22:7
Beaubian 13:7
 37:9 40:12
began 18:5 25:12
 36:6
beginning 33:11
 53:3
begins 9:7
behalf 17:18
 22:24 28:7
 43:3

behavior 57:14
believe 4:12
 39:20,23,24
 40:18 53:17
 54:2 55:10,23
believes 31:16
Belle 46:16
 48:17 49:5,21
 49:22
benefits 57:7
best 8:15 23:5
 26:20 61:16
better 16:8
 24:24 45:13
 51:22 53:13
 55:15
beyond 20:17
 31:14 32:2
Bill 47:2
Bing 21:1
birthday 45:18
bit 47:9 50:14
bite 53:17
black 57:17,18
 57:18,22
bless 5:14
blessed 4:4
blessing 5:4,9
blocking 52:2
blood 61:17
blue 6:7
board 1:4 3:3,6
 3:14,19,23 7:8
 8:1,4,25 9:5
 9:23 10:6,6,10
 10:13 11:7
 12:23 22:23
 23:7,16 24:17
 26:13,22,23
 27:13,17 28:6
 28:6,16,17
 29:15,16,21,23
 30:1,5,6,10,15
 31:3,4,16,23
 32:4,10 33:11
 34:14 37:1,7,8
 40:24 46:2,12
 46:22 47:1
 48:14 54:20,22
board's 31:10
body 9:14,17
 39:18 40:1

boldness 58:24
 59:11
bond 19:24
boost 50:14
bow 4:21
Boyd 41:9
break 34:19
brief 10:10
Briefly 27:11
bring 11:24
 12:20 42:8
 54:19 57:7
 58:19
Brock 50:4,5,20
 51:18
brother 45:16,18
brought 41:19,23
 47:12
Brown 3:24 36:15
 52:14 56:25
build 19:5
building 46:6
bureau 19:12,14
 19:15 20:10
burned 14:4
burns 14:3,3
business 9:1
 15:16 17:14
 29:21 33:25
 40:9 58:22
bust 58:10
B-r-o-c-k 50:7

C

C 12:23 16:23
call 20:18 43:25
 45:7,8 55:20
 55:22 58:1
called 7:14
 20:25 35:24
 44:4 51:25
 57:12
calling 35:6
candidates 8:8
 53:14,15
capable 51:5
capital 21:6
car 49:13
card 48:4
care 40:8 43:25
 48:3
career 18:5

21:14 25:12
carried 6:5 29:4
carries 23:23
 27:8 32:20
cars 48:25 49:6
 59:19
case 39:16 43:20
 43:25 44:1,16
 44:24 45:2
cases 13:14
 43:16
cash 13:17
Casino 16:24
 40:16
catalyst 9:15
catch 16:21
cause 61:8
caution 34:14
 44:15
CD 42:3
CDs 42:1
cease 36:13
celebrating 54:8
Celia 3:22 10:4
 10:6
center 40:25
Central 35:21
 50:11,12,12,25
 51:1,11
ceremony 40:14
certain 34:17
 44:25
certainly 6:5,6
 7:9 8:25 23:18
 39:13 40:4
 45:13 53:12
CERTIFICATE 61:1
Certified 61:5
certify 61:7,16
chair 3:18 5:19
 7:16,16,17,18
 7:19 9:6,23
 12:2 23:9 28:3
 28:19 32:23
 58:23 59:13,13
Chairman 3:5
 33:21
chairmanship
 9:15
chairperson 2:2
 3:7 27:15 33:1
 33:10,13,22

chalked 48:23
challenges 9:11
 21:5
chamber 21:25
chance 47:16,18
 55:22
change 10:15
 11:23 39:11,15
 39:25 57:12,13
changed 39:20
changes 57:7
changing 5:1
chaos 53:9
Chaplain 4:5,10
 4:13,23
character 7:7
charge 7:3 20:9
 20:10
charged 39:1
 59:7
charges 11:16,21
charter 7:14,17
 8:10 29:18,24
 30:4,5,10,16
 30:17,18,22
 31:5,12,13,18
 31:25 58:25
Chene 51:25
Chester 17:15
 18:1,2 23:1,6
 23:11 24:11
chief 2:6 3:9,11
 3:20 6:20 7:1
 9:25 12:7,18
 12:19,23 17:9
 17:9,15,18,25
 19:13 20:9,12
 20:14,19,21,25
 21:2,2,6,10,12
 21:16,21,24,24
 21:25 22:2,4
 23:1,6,10,17
 24:11 34:1,4
 34:24 35:10
 36:11,12,20,21
 43:7,9 44:15
 44:23 45:5,11
 47:4,8,24,25
 48:6,7,14
 49:24 55:12
 57:11
chief's 3:9

children 22:15
 46:8 58:11
choose 30:19,20
Chris 11:15
Church 56:4
citation 22:2
 26:9
citations 21:24
 21:24
citizen 18:17
 46:13
citizens 15:1
 22:3,7,15,17
 22:24 25:7
 26:10,14,18
 28:7 55:13
city 1:3 7:14,17
 8:10,15 13:19
 20:15 21:9
 22:8,9,21,24
 24:20 26:17
 28:8,11 30:4
 30:13,17,18,19
 31:7 34:16
 37:18 38:22,23
 39:2,12,18,23
 41:25 42:2,4,8
 42:11,17 46:5
 47:3,6,7 48:19
 51:3 53:12,19
 53:19,25 54:16
 58:22 59:7,10
 59:15
civil 25:20,24
 26:4
civilian 42:10
clarification
 42:22
clarity 36:4
class 39:1
clause 28:3
cleared 6:15
clearly 8:4
 24:23
climate 14:24
close 50:23 60:1
closed 10:2 33:6
 33:9,19 49:5
coalition 57:9
Coleman 3:21
colleagues 8:1
 8:13

collected 44:8
combat 35:21
come 4:6,24 6:19
 6:22 7:24
 10:12 24:6
 29:10 35:1,14
 40:18,20,24
 41:4 42:5
 49:14 50:7
 53:16,21 54:20
 56:5
comes 4:7 14:1
 24:7
comfortable 52:7
coming 42:2 43:3
 50:20 53:14
 59:12
Command 21:16
 34:23
commander 17:21
 19:17,20,23
 20:2,6,8 24:6
 24:9 25:3,4,23
 26:3,6,16,21
 27:4,11,12
 40:3 48:20
 49:24
commanders 19:21
 20:5
commanding 19:18
Commemorative
 21:23
Commencing 1:17
commend 46:3
commendation
 26:10
commendations
 22:3
comment 51:8
commerce 22:1
commiserate 16:6
commission 8:3
 37:5,16,19,20
 37:21 38:21
 39:4,9,10,17
 39:21,22 58:14
 61:25
commissioner 2:3
 2:4 3:2,7,8,13
 4:3 5:16,19,23
 5:24 6:4 9:6
 9:19,21 12:10

12:13,17 15:3
 15:5,18,20,24
 16:2,5,11,16
 16:19,25 17:4
 17:6,10,16,17
 17:20,24 23:12
 24:3,5 25:2
 27:1,2,7,15,16
 27:23 28:5,20
 28:21 29:3,11
 29:19 30:3
 31:1,2,18 32:2
 32:5,12,13,14
 32:19,25 33:3
 33:7,8,10,14
 33:16,17,18,21
 36:1,3,14,22
 41:6 42:25
 45:10,21,24
 46:17,19,20,23
 47:21 48:8,9
 48:10 50:1,15
 50:19 51:6,20
 54:17 55:3,7
 55:19,24 56:13
 56:15,18,21
 58:20 59:24
 60:3,4,5,8
commissioners
 1:4 3:4,6 6:3
 9:16 11:8,22
 12:5 17:24
 22:23 23:8,21
 26:13,23,24
 27:6 28:7,16
 28:17 29:2
 30:2,6,24 31:3
 31:6,21 32:8
 32:18 33:11,23
 37:8,12,16
 38:13,18 40:24
 50:5 56:20
 59:4,23 60:7
commitment 23:3
 26:17 27:13
 28:9
committed 58:3
communication
 18:23 37:4
communications
 35:6,7 40:23
community 5:8,14

19:5, 22, 24
 20:3, 6, 16 22:5
 22:6, 14, 19
 23:3 28:14
 47:3 48:1
companies 35:2, 9
 35:23 50:10
company 50:14
complainant
 10:24
complainant's
 11:2
complaints 18:17
 38:5
complete 43:15
 61:15
completes 4:2
completing 25:6
compliance 26:2
 27:20
compliment 48:19
composed 30:10
composition
 30:15
computer-aided
 61:13
concern 34:8
concerned 41:22
 52:10 56:24
 57:17, 25
concert 35:19
concluded 60:10
conduct 14:3, 7
conducting 18:17
confines 51:14
 51:16
confirmed 10:7
 11:2
confuse 58:15
congratulate
 23:6 26:21
 28:15 59:12
Congratulations
 48:14
congregation
 56:10
connected 61:17
consent 24:16
 26:3 27:20
consider 37:21
considered 37:17
 37:23 38:4

considering
 38:11
constant 9:13
constraints 21:6
consummate 28:14
contact 39:8
contacted 10:24
contained 61:11
contentious 8:5
contest 10:9
continue 5:3
 29:20 36:13
 59:14
continued 20:14
 21:3, 8, 12 23:5
 26:20
continues 42:6
continuing 13:24
 14:5
contravened 11:8
contravention
 12:11
control 12:25
 13:1 14:24
 30:6 35:7 49:1
 49:2
controversy
 61:21
convene 51:7
conversation
 52:4
coordinate 19:2
copy 38:22
corner 49:9
Corps 4:10, 13, 23
correct 16:4
 36:8 39:24
Council 30:14
 38:22
counsel 37:18
 39:2, 12, 18, 23
 53:8, 9
count 11:17, 18
countless 22:11
county 43:18, 21
 46:5 61:4, 24
couple 47:15, 17
courage 22:18
 59:6
course 9:9 39:9
 51:14
court 4:1, 1

11:20 13:14
 15:15 23:22
 57:12
covered 48:22
create 20:22
credit 58:10
crime 20:1, 23
 21:8 22:12
 34:16, 19 35:24
 37:3 58:3
criminal 21:17
 21:19 35:22
criminalized
 57:19
crisis 20:25
critical 20:11
CSR-6175 1:18
 61:23
culturally 24:24
curfew 57:22
currency 14:19
current 36:6
currently 13:22
custody 41:21
 44:12
customer 14:25
cut 40:20
cutting 40:14

D

dark 54:12
Darren 4:5
data 58:6, 15
date 12:3
dated 5:21
daughter 58:8
Dave 21:1
David 12:24
Davis 3:20 44:4
day 23:8 26:24
 28:17 41:15, 21
 44:11, 13 45:20
days 27:12 35:20
 41:14, 18 44:10
 45:19
day-to-day 19:14
deal 4:15
Dear 37:12
death 42:6
December 20:24
 25:23 47:11
decide 36:12

46:11
decided 56:5
decision 24:10
 27:8 39:17
 57:16
decisions 19:3
decommissioning
 57:2
decorated 21:22
decree 24:16
dedicated 21:4
 25:7
dedication 20:16
 28:12, 24 58:25
definitely 4:22
degree 21:17, 18
Dehem 12:24
dejected 41:10
deliberately
 42:18, 20
delivered 47:10
demanding 20:20
Denise 51:21
Dennis 50:5 54:6
 54:9
department 5:3
 5:11 7:3, 6, 9
 7:12 9:10
 14:23 17:23
 18:3, 22 19:22
 20:7, 19, 22
 21:1, 8, 10, 22
 21:24 22:13, 17
 22:25 23:4
 24:23 25:5, 7
 25:10 26:2, 14
 27:19, 21 28:8
 28:11, 25 30:8
 37:9, 13 39:15
 39:19, 25 41:21
 48:19 50:2
 52:11, 12 54:19
 54:21 55:1, 9
 55:14 56:8, 12
 57:20 59:16, 23
departmental
 26:8
department's
 20:1, 12
deploy 34:25
 35:18, 24
deployment 35:3

35:13
deposit 13:17,19
 16:10
deposition 61:8
 61:14
deposits 13:17
 14:19
deputy 2:6 3:9
 3:11 12:17,19
 12:23 17:9
 19:13 20:9,12
 20:14 33:25
 34:4,24 35:10
 36:20,21 43:7
 43:9 44:15,23
 45:5,11 52:3,8
derail 55:8
Derrick 12:23
deserve 57:20
deserving 23:18
designed 20:3
Despite 21:5
destination 52:5
destroy 15:16
detail 34:8,10
 35:5,10 46:3
 48:18,24 49:20
detailed 34:25
details 34:9,11
 34:15
determine 30:24
Detroit 1:3,15
 7:14 8:16
 12:25 18:3,4
 21:9 22:9,10
 22:21,23,24,25
 23:4,7 24:20
 25:5,8,10,11
 26:13,14,14,18
 26:22 28:6,8,8
 28:10,11,16,24
 30:1,4,13,18
 31:7 37:9,9,13
 37:18 38:22
 39:2,11 41:13
 41:16,25 42:2
 42:8,9 44:5
 46:13 47:3
 48:19 51:3
 56:7 58:22
 59:8,8,10,15
Detroit 59:9

devastated 41:10
devastating 46:9
develop 19:4
developed 21:10
devoted 22:4
devotedly 20:21
devotion 22:13
 23:2
dictate 59:2
difference 56:4
different 37:25
 38:24,25
differently 40:6
dignitaries
 53:24
diligence 29:15
Dillon 53:5
Dinner 46:15
direct 18:24
directives 21:11
directly 19:1
 61:20
director 3:22
 52:14
disagree 8:6,7
disarray 49:4
disciplinary
 25:19 30:24
discipline 19:4
discuss 37:21
discussed 37:14
 37:23
discussion 6:1,2
 23:14 28:25
 32:15,15 38:12
 52:24
discussions
 37:15 38:18
 53:5
disorder 21:9
dispose 14:16
disposed 14:14
distance 6:9
district 10:24
 11:20 20:11
 30:12 35:8,12
 35:17,21 38:1
 46:1 50:13,25
 51:1,3,4,11
 56:3 57:11
districts 13:11
 50:24

division 25:15
 25:18 41:18
Dixon 12:21,22
 12:23 15:4,10
 15:19,21,23
 16:1,4,7,13,17
 16:23 17:2,5,8
document 34:10
 34:25 36:10,11
doing 6:18 9:1
 35:5 36:18
 47:24 54:13,16
 56:12,20 57:12
 59:4
dollars 15:21
Don 10:23
Donaldson 11:12
Donnell 2:4 3:8
 33:14,21
door 10:3
doubt 57:23
downtown 6:8
 35:15,18
DPD 57:4
Drake 3:20
Drive 57:24
driven 35:25
 58:7,16
driver's 38:9
drug 14:3
due 29:15 34:15
 35:17,19,19
duly 61:9
duty 11:18 20:18
D-e-n-n-i-s 50:7

E

eager 22:16
earned 21:16
Eastern 19:12,13
 21:19 35:11,16
 56:3
echo 5:10
economic 21:5
edge 52:19
effective 12:1,2
 19:21
efficient 13:2,2
efforts 6:15
 20:6 26:18
eight 16:14,16
 41:11,25

Eighth 25:13
either 31:19
 32:6 51:12
 61:19
elect 7:16 8:9
elected 7:18
 30:11,19,21
 31:20,21 32:8
 32:8 39:18
 40:1
election 30:19
 30:21
elections 7:15
element 35:22
eleven 30:11
Eleventh 18:7
EM 52:13 57:1
emergency 29:17
 31:8,24 32:5
employee 61:19
enabled 35:21
encourage 22:18
endeavors 26:2
endure 45:19
enforcement
 13:16 25:13
 26:7 28:13
 35:4
enlarge 5:6
ensure 43:15
enter 16:10
entertain 5:17
 60:1
entire 22:21
 24:16
entirety 17:18
equal 38:16
 50:22 51:13
equipment 38:14
equitable 50:23
Errigo 48:12,12
erroneous 6:14
especially 7:22
 47:14 59:7
Espinoza 17:22
 24:2 28:1,2,4
 28:10,15,23
etcetera 13:11
ethics 7:6
events 22:6,9
everybody 6:12
 6:17 27:21

34:5,5 41:5
 49:7,12,12
 50:11
evidence 11:6
 13:3,5,10,12
 14:23 15:7,11
 15:13,14 16:20
 37:10,13,17,22
 37:23 38:3,12
 38:15,19,24
 41:16 42:16
 44:7,10
exactly 8:23
 43:23,24 45:6
example 35:15
excellent 8:13
 14:25 49:3,19
 49:23,25,25
exception 6:1
 38:24
Executive 2:5
 19:1
executives 53:24
exercise 31:9
exercises 4:18
expenses 38:11
experience 25:25
experienced 46:9
expire 7:20 29:9
expires 31:2
 61:25
explained 49:16
extend 59:3
Extension 30:2
externally 9:11
extra 43:17
extraordinary
 31:9
extremely 6:13
exude 9:12
eye 44:10
E-r-r-i-g-o
 48:12

F

facilities 37:14
facility 14:24
 38:15,17
fact 34:2 37:21
 45:2 52:7,19
 54:9 57:19
facts 10:11,15

10:16
faithful 26:19
falling 47:7
family 42:13
 43:4 45:12
far 14:7 16:8
 52:13
fascinated 47:11
fast 10:16
Father 4:24
Father's 45:20
favor 6:2 23:20
 27:5 29:1
 32:16 33:20
 50:8 60:6
fear 21:8
fearlessly 20:21
February 10:21
 19:9
fee 37:1 49:17
feel 39:8 59:18
 59:21
feels 52:23
fees 37:6,11,12
felony 11:17,21
 11:23
felt 42:7
Field 57:9
fifteen 58:8
fighting 8:5
figure 54:13
financial 21:6
financially
 61:20
find 43:23,24
 44:20 45:6
 50:8 57:4
fine 23:3 43:17
finish 52:16
firearms 13:6,13
 13:20,21,21,25
 14:19 15:7,12
firework 46:3
fireworks 48:17
 56:5
first 4:25 9:14
 15:6 23:16
 24:13 27:9
 29:13 31:22
 32:9 35:1 41:1
 43:2,9 47:6
 49:20 50:20

61:9
firsthand 49:18
first-name 22:15
five 29:9 30:23
flag 58:17
flat 38:1
floor 32:23
 40:22
Florida 54:6
flow 57:13,13
folks 54:7
follows 13:9
food 46:24
foremost 4:25
forfeiture 13:18
 37:3,10,14,17
 37:22,24 38:3
 38:12,15,19,25
Forgive 16:21
form 57:3
forth 7:17
forty 21:4
forward 4:23
 5:13 10:16
 14:21 27:17,20
 29:21 40:5,7
 41:19,23 42:9
 59:3
fought 55:9
four 21:24,24,25
 23:15 29:22
 30:12,23 51:24
Fourth 19:8
 25:15
free 39:8
frees 14:4
Freeway 40:16
front 50:7
fuel 38:14
full 24:21 41:1
fun 49:13
functions 30:7
fund 15:22
funds 13:18
further 10:4
 32:4 39:7
 61:16
futility 4:18

G

gang 35:18
Gary 56:25

gathered 41:17
 44:8
general 13:19
 15:22 30:21
generated 14:11
gentleman 49:13
gentlemen 3:3
 60:9
George 2:5 3:14
 3:19
getting 35:2
 36:23 53:13,13
give 8:19 24:7
 33:23 40:25
 42:22 43:2
 45:8 50:16
 51:22 56:23
given 7:11 34:8
 47:5 61:15
gives 30:5
giving 54:7
glad 6:5 56:21
glory 5:9
go 6:15 27:24
 35:16 39:21
 43:14
goal 13:1
goals 21:13
God 5:1,2,2,4,5
 5:6,6,7,8,10
 5:11
goes 13:19 36:12
 43:11 50:23
going 3:15 4:6
 6:20,23 9:4
 15:16 17:15,16
 17:19 29:12
 33:25 36:11,14
 41:13 43:2,7
 45:10 52:5,11
 52:11,13,16,18
 52:20,25 53:14
 54:1,5,7,8,14
 54:15,16 56:25
 57:5,15 59:14
Goldpaugh 10:8
good 3:2,10,11
 12:22 17:11,11
 24:6,13 34:4
 41:5,6 45:25
 46:2 47:1,22
 47:24 48:13

50:4,12 51:21
 51:23 53:17,19
 53:19 54:3,19
 56:1,20 58:21
 58:21
GOP 21:23
gotten 27:22
governed 30:17
governor 53:5
graduate 21:14
graduated 58:9
graduating 18:4
 25:11
Grand 40:16
grasp 18:22
Gratiot 41:12
gray 53:6
great 6:10 56:2
 56:9,12
greater 38:16
Greg 28:23 48:12
Grigg 17:21 24:1
 28:10,15
Grosse 57:24
ground 56:3
 58:12
growing 41:19
 44:10
guarantee 54:22
guess 40:17
 51:22
guns 13:23
gusto 59:3
guys 59:14

H

half 16:3 51:2
hand 8:19 24:7
 33:24
handcuffed 58:11
handguns 13:22
handles 14:10
handling 25:25
hands 57:21
Hanson 4:1
happen 52:12
 54:1 57:23,25
happened 8:23
 45:17 46:5,6
 57:1
happening 56:25
happy 49:12

Hart 56:6
hat 49:19,23
hats 24:25
headquarters
 17:1,3 40:12
 40:15,21
heads 4:22
hear 23:25 41:3
heard 12:6,6
 42:7
hearing 10:8
 28:25 32:16
hearings 51:7
heck 52:9
held 13:6 30:18
hell 51:23
helm 24:19 56:22
help 4:19 22:19
 43:2,6 47:5
 50:13
helped 47:9
He'll 36:12
high 35:20
higher 38:1
highest 23:5
 26:19
highly 19:22
 20:20 21:21
 59:7
hint 6:10
hip 57:9
historical 22:9
history 19:21
 20:12
hold 7:14 31:18
 32:5
holds 54:24
holdup 44:24
home 6:17 58:1
homicide 10:1,20
 13:11 41:18
honest 49:2
honor 5:14 6:23
 17:25 22:16
 23:9,17 28:9
honorable 11:19
 12:23
honored 24:17
 26:7
honoring 17:15
 17:20,22,25
 23:10 25:2

27:3 28:4
honors 21:23
 28:23
hop 57:9
hope 6:22 55:10
 55:17 56:23
hopefully 6:24
 40:2 57:14
horizon 14:22
host 16:13
hosting 16:12
hot 58:6,13,15
hotspots 35:14
Houpt 1:18 3:25
 61:5,23
house 58:11
Huel 57:10
human 21:6

I

identified 41:20
 43:12
illustrious
 21:14
imaging 58:5
impact 57:14
impacted 19:25
implemented 20:3
impound 38:2,17
 48:13
impressed 56:7
improve 20:1
incident 41:12
 46:5
incinerator
 14:17
include 31:10
included 25:18
includes 13:13
including 21:5
 21:23 26:8
 46:13
income 52:22
indelibly 22:20
indirectly 61:20
individual 5:5
 42:13
inelegance 35:17
inform 7:13
information 36:4
 42:14 44:7
 45:7,8

informed 38:13
infraction 58:4
initiatives 19:5
 20:4 22:10
inquire 45:13
inspector 19:2,9
 19:11,16
instructed 34:9
 34:24
instructor 18:10
instrumental
 26:1
integrity 5:4
 7:5 8:11 28:12
intend 10:9
intentionally
 42:19
interested 61:20
interesting 7:24
 40:13
Internal 10:22
 11:10,13
internally 9:11
introduce 3:16
introduction 4:2
inventory 13:25
 14:2,20 15:13
investigated
 42:7
investigation
 11:1 41:14,15
 42:16,23 43:15
 43:19
investigations
 18:17
Investigator
 3:21
investigator's
 11:12,14
invite 46:12
invocation 4:6
invocations 4:9
 4:18
involved 20:5
 41:12
Isle 46:16 48:17
 49:5,21,22
issue 34:1,3
 40:2
issued 11:24
 42:11
issues 4:16 5:10

30:25 34:16
45:6
item 36:25
items 14:4, 9, 14
14:16

J

Jack 37:4 39:8
jacket 10:14
11:1, 3, 4, 6
James 2:6 3:9
January 14:4, 11
14:14 15:25
18:18 19:19
Jeezy 35:19
Jeff 27:12
Jefferson 52:2
Jeffrey 17:21
24:1 25:3, 4, 9
26:16, 22 27:4
Jerome 2:2 3:5
Jessica 2:3 3:7
32:25 33:10
Jesus 4:24 5:14
jewelry 13:13
job 6:7, 10, 13, 18
7:1 8:18 24:15
47:24 49:3, 19
49:25 50:22
51:23 56:20
59:15, 22
John 16:23
Johnson 10:23
11:5
join 40:20
Judge 57:11
judgment 27:20
judgments 26:3
July 5:22 20:19
21:3 25:10
31:2 33:11
40:10, 11 46:14
June 1:16 5:21
11:7, 10, 19
12:1, 3 23:8
25:5 26:24
28:17 36:7
37:8, 15 45:18
46:14
justice 21:17, 19

K

keep 8:16, 19
15:17 22:19
54:12
Kevin 31:8
key 10:14
Kim 44:6
Kim's 44:3
kind 16:7 46:7, 8
50:8, 8, 13
knew 22:14
know 5:1 6:13, 19
7:24, 25 8:23
23:18 24:22
29:8, 8, 9 42:12
42:14, 18 43:9
43:19 44:1, 3
44:19, 19, 19
47:16, 18 48:6
48:6, 7 50:15
50:15 51:1, 1
52:9, 12, 13, 14
52:19 53:2, 15
53:17, 24 54:4
54:10, 12 55:9
55:10 56:11
58:6 59:5
knowledge 22:12
known 41:20
42:17
Kowal 11:15
kudos 6:11, 12
50:17 51:23
K-o-w-a-l 11:16

L

L 17:15 18:1, 2
23:1, 7, 11
lab 13:14
labor 25:19
laboratories
13:11
lack 21:6
ladies 3:3 46:13
60:9
Lake 57:23
Lansing 53:3
larceny 10:25
large 14:3
lastly 15:24
law 13:15 25:12
26:7 28:13
40:1
Lawrence 9:25
10:19
laws 18:22 31:9
lawyers 39:24
lay 58:12
lead 4:5 18:24
20:22
leadership 7:8
8:7 9:9, 12
19:10 20:7
23:4 26:6
27:13, 14 51:6
leading 24:16
leaps 24:19
leave 31:3 54:5
led 20:3
left 3:14
legal 25:15, 18
25:25
letter 37:7 39:6
39:6
letters 22:2
26:9
Let's 55:17
level 43:17
lieutenant 10:22
11:5 18:19, 20
18:21, 25 19:1
19:8 25:17, 22
34:9, 21, 22, 22
36:2, 3, 8 48:20
Lieutenants 57:2
life 20:2 41:24
42:4, 11, 20
59:8
lifelong 28:9
59:9
lifesaving 26:8
life's 22:18
light 5:13 57:6
57:15
limit 41:3
line 52:3
listening 49:7
54:15
little 6:22 46:5
50:14
live 5:1 53:19
53:22
lived 41:24 59:8
59:9
lives 55:5

locate 15:14
located 16:22
location 13:8
39:2
locations 13:6
Lochart 11:20
lock 55:13
Lodge 16:23
40:16, 17
Logan 7:1 17:15
17:18 18:1, 2, 7
18:9, 12, 15, 19
18:21, 25 19:8
19:11, 16, 20
20:2, 6, 8, 12, 14
20:21, 25 21:2
21:7, 12, 16, 21
22:4 23:7, 11
24:11 47:4, 8
47:25
Logan's 6:20
19:23 23:1
Loletha 3:21
long 13:23 44:18
54:20
look 34:14 46:11
50:25 51:5, 8
51:16 58:17
59:15
looked 51:9
looking 14:21
15:8 36:5
46:21
Lord 54:3
loss 43:10
lost 38:6, 7
41:11
lot 4:14 7:23, 24
35:11 36:17
47:14 48:22, 25
love 48:20 50:11
lower 38:2
loyalty 28:11
lunch 46:15
Lyndon 13:8
L116 10:23

M

Macomb 61:4, 24
Madonna 21:17
Magistrate 11:20
magnitude 24:21

main 13:6
maintain 5:3
 58:25
makeovers 22:8
making 9:1 24:19
 37:17
managed 19:14
management 13:2
 19:11 20:10
manager 3:24
 29:17 31:8,24
 32:5
mandated 31:5
manned 48:23
 49:9
manner 23:18
manpower 38:14
March 18:13 20:9
 25:13 36:6
marching 53:21
marriage 61:17
master 21:18
matter 10:4,12
 34:2 61:21
matters 26:1
 30:25
mayor 21:1 29:14
 30:13 31:19
 32:6 52:23
 53:1
ma'am 15:10,19
 48:8,9,10,11
 54:17 55:24
McCants 45:25
 46:1,18,21,25
mean 6:10 15:8,8
 15:9 23:19
 42:16 45:3
 59:17,20
means 7:8 15:10
 42:8,10 61:12
 61:13
meant 47:14
medal 22:2
meeting 1:5 3:4
 5:9,22 6:21
 7:19 37:1,14
 39:5 40:10
 47:12 57:10
 58:5 60:1,8,10
meetings 4:9,14
 4:17 6:20 22:6

39:14 50:21
member 21:22
 33:2 37:19
 39:9 45:12
members 8:4
 29:23 30:11,12
 30:19,21 37:20
 37:22 38:4
men 5:5 6:6 8:12
 21:7 22:16
 54:25 55:8,13
 57:18,18,22,24
mentioned 10:16
 35:11 56:9
mentioning 57:6
mere 4:18
merit 21:25
 26:19
merits 23:4
message 47:19
Metropolitan
 18:4 25:11
MGM 16:24 40:15
Michigan 1:15
 13:22 21:19
 31:10 37:10
 48:13 61:2,6
 61:24
Midtown 53:20,21
Mike 48:20
Mile 41:11 42:1
mileage 37:24,25
Miller 44:5
million 6:16
mind 37:5
minute 17:12
 41:3
minutes 5:21 6:1
 49:14,14,14
misconduct 11:17
misdemeanor
 11:18
mistaken 12:3
 58:10
Mitchell 9:25
 10:19 11:2,5,9
 11:13
models 20:4
moment 10:7
Monday 6:7
money 13:13,17
 13:18 38:6

monitor 19:2
months 7:2,15
 35:14 59:17
monumental 24:18
Morrison 41:5,7
 41:9 43:1,10
 44:2,22 45:4,9
 45:15,22
Morton 37:4 39:9
mother 56:6
 58:12
motion 5:17 6:4
 23:22 27:8
 29:4 32:15,20
 60:2
motivation 9:16
Motor 22:8
move 5:13 23:9
 26:25 27:17
 28:19 29:21
 32:11,12,21
 33:5,19
moved 5:25 23:13
 27:3,19 28:22
 33:4,9 59:2
 60:3,6
moves 5:19
moving 40:5,7
music 57:13
musician 42:2

N

N 1:18 61:5,23
name 3:5 4:24
 5:15 41:1,9
 42:12 45:25
 47:2 50:5
 53:16 58:22
names 31:19 32:6
narcotics 13:5
 13:13 14:1,2,5
 14:20 15:7
national 22:8
nearly 14:3,11
necessary 38:14
 42:8
need 8:9 15:16
 29:16 32:22
 40:5,7 43:6
 44:20 48:7
 51:9 53:12
 58:4,18

needed 15:15
 29:14 47:9,10
needs 14:23 48:1
neglect 11:18
neighborhood
 22:6,10 48:3
nephew 41:11,25
 42:12,17,20
 43:4
never 24:21 46:9
 59:9
new 7:16,16,18
 14:22 16:20,22
 16:25 17:2,14
 18:10 21:10
 30:5,9,16
 31:11,13,18,25
 33:10 36:11,12
 40:15,21 48:6
 48:14 55:12
 57:9 59:12
newly 31:20 32:8
nice 52:18
night 6:8 22:8
Nights 22:10
nine 7:2 22:1
NIP-IT 34:8,9,10
 34:15,18 35:3
 36:9,12 48:7
 56:2
nominate 32:22
 32:25 33:14
nominating 52:13
nominations
 32:24 33:5,5,9
 33:13,19,19
non 30:12
noon 46:15,18
North 13:23
Northeastern
 10:23 20:11
 46:1
Northwest 35:16
Northwestern
 21:15 35:12
Notary 61:1,6,24
notch 46:4
note 47:4
noticed 56:4
notified 10:22
November 30:21
number 35:7

43:24
numerous 22:2,13
 26:9

O

O 55:21
object 12:7
obviously 36:17
 39:17
occurrences
 34:17
occurs 31:22
 32:9
OCI 17:12,13
October 25:17
office 3:9,24
 8:9 9:18 11:17
 25:20,24 26:4
 27:22 29:5,18
 36:16 43:18,22
 44:3,6,17
 55:21 58:7
officer 9:25
 10:19 11:1,2,5
 11:9,13 17:21
 18:5,7,9,9,12
 19:2,18 24:1
 25:12 28:1,2,4
 28:4,10,15,23
 34:23 35:4
 41:13 42:9
 43:13 44:5
 49:24
officers 18:24
 46:3 48:24
 49:1,7,8,9,10
 55:11 59:12
official 6:21
off-duty 41:12
 42:9 43:13
oh 24:5 58:13
okay 15:18 17:13
 28:5 34:6 37:6
 40:1,8 46:4,19
 51:18
old 16:23 30:17
 30:22 33:25
 40:8,15 56:6
 58:8,9
ones 8:19
One-stop 14:22
open 32:24 40:22

opened 14:15
operate 34:13
operations 19:12
 19:13,14 22:13
 30:16
operator 50:6
opinion 31:11
opportunity 8:2
 38:7 41:8
opposed 23:22
 27:7 29:3
 32:19 50:10
oral 40:23
order 7:15 29:15
 29:18,20
ordered 11:5
Orr 31:8,17
outraged 41:22
 42:5
outs 22:8
outside 35:13
 59:9
outstanding 6:7
 6:25 7:1,11
 8:18 19:10
 24:15 26:17
override 29:17
oversight 30:7
owner 48:12 50:5
 58:22
owners 13:15

P

package 34:6
page 11:25 15:6
pages 1:11 36:17
Pamela 3:20
Pannell 47:22,23
parents 58:2
Park 52:1
parking 48:23
part 23:23 27:4
 29:5
participating
 22:7
particular 41:15
 41:17,20,21,24
 42:6,20,23
 44:11,13 46:6
 56:22
particularly
 19:23 43:4,19

parties 61:18
partner 12:24
partnership
 19:25
partnerships
 20:23
pass 45:17
passage 30:16
pastor 4:4,21
 56:3
patrol 5:8 18:6
 18:8,14 19:2
 25:25
paused 23:17
pay 9:24 10:13
 10:19 11:9
 12:8,11 30:25
 38:9
Penson 4:5,21
people 6:16
 35:20 43:16
 51:15,25 53:20
 57:10 58:18
 59:19,21
percent 48:21
perfect 22:1
 48:21,24,25
 49:5
perfectly 49:2
 49:17
performance 19:3
 20:17
period 36:7
Perkins 57:11
permanent 23:24
 27:4 29:5
persistence
 58:24
person 31:14
 32:22 42:18
 44:12 59:1
personally 44:1
 45:8 48:4
Personnel 3:22
petition 10:19
 11:25
phone 52:8
pick 53:15
picnic 46:14
picture 27:24
piece 6:17 15:11
pieces 13:5,12

15:6,14
pitched 6:12
placed 11:6
 15:13 20:10
 49:10
places 51:15
planning 25:20
played 26:1
Plaza 56:6
please 4:13 8:20
 10:10 39:8
 40:24,25 43:1
pleasure 48:15
plus 21:14 23:1
 41:14
podium 40:25
point 9:8 36:4
 41:24 43:20
 54:19 56:22
Pointe 57:24
points 44:17
police 1:4 3:4,6
 3:22 8:3 9:25
 10:19 11:7
 12:7,25 13:23
 17:21,25 18:3
 18:4,5,10
 20:19 21:2,15
 22:23,25 23:4
 23:6,7,10,17
 24:1,11 25:5
 25:10,11 26:13
 26:14,22,23
 27:19 28:1,1,3
 28:4,8,9,10,15
 28:16,17,23,24
 30:2,3,5,7
 31:2 32:1
 33:11,22 37:8
 37:9,13 40:11
 40:24 41:13,16
 41:21 42:9
 43:17 44:6,13
 46:13 47:3
 48:13,19 52:2
 52:11,12 55:12
 56:7 59:16
policies 18:23
 21:10
policing 20:3
 58:16
political 51:22

59:7
poor 52:3
Porter 3:21
portion 10:17
position 24:22
 39:25 52:21,25
 54:9,25
positively 19:25
possible 41:4
 50:23
posted 16:14
postpone 5:20
powers 31:9
 43:17
pray 5:11 53:10
 53:10 55:10,17
prayer 4:22
prayers 4:12
 53:11 54:2
precinct 18:7,8
 18:14,20,21,25
 19:8,18,23
 20:4 25:13,15
 50:13 58:1
precincts 20:5
 35:8 50:10
prepare 34:10,25
preparing 36:10
prerogative 10:3
presence 4:12,16
 22:20 59:16,20
 61:12
present 3:17,20
 6:24 29:23
 39:4 44:16,24
 45:3
presentation
 12:20
president 47:3,6
pretty 16:5
prevailing 39:14
previous 9:10
 16:6 39:16
primarily 11:22
 24:19
Prior 4:9 35:3
private 38:17,23
 58:9
privilege 9:8
probably 29:8
 51:2
problem 50:11

53:8
problems 49:11
procedurally
 24:24
procedures 18:23
proceedings 3:25
process 13:10
 36:10 39:20
 43:11,14 44:9
 44:9
processed 41:16
produced 42:3
professional
 14:9 18:15
 28:14
professionalism
 28:12
programs 22:11
progress 54:23
 55:8,14
prohibiting
 31:25 32:1
prohibits 31:13
promoted 18:12
 18:19 19:17
 21:1 25:14,16
 42:3
proper 39:20
properly 5:24
 23:13 27:2
 28:21 33:4,8
 60:5
property 12:20
 12:25 13:1,10
 13:14,15 14:7
 14:8,22 15:21
 16:20 54:11
proposed 57:1
proposing 32:11
prosecuting
 11:11
prosecutor's
 43:18,22 44:17
protect 5:7
proud 7:25
proved 19:20
provide 14:24
 35:7,9
provided 19:25
provides 14:25
 30:10
providing 18:10

36:19
provision 31:17
 31:25
provisions 31:11
public 8:5 22:20
 26:19 40:15,21
 51:8 61:1,6,24
publically 9:9
 9:18
purposely 42:19
put 52:16
P-a-n-n-e-l-1
 47:23
p.m 1:17 10:22
 40:11 60:10

Q

qualified 20:18
quality 14:24
 20:2
question 16:19
 34:1 39:14
questioned 37:16
questions 15:2
 36:2 39:13
 40:3,3
quickly 36:23
quiet 7:4
Quinn 3:24
quite 45:16 47:9
quote 11:3

R

racism 58:16
rallied 7:4
ran 56:8
rank 18:13,19
 19:9,17 21:2
 25:17,23
rap 35:19
rate 37:5,16,19
 37:21 38:10,19
 38:20,21,24
 39:1,4,9,10,11
 39:15,17,20,21
 39:22
rates 37:22,23
 37:24,25 38:1
 38:1,2,12,19
 39:3,25
reached 22:21
read 6:23 10:9

17:17,20,25
 24:8,14 28:3
 29:7,25 37:6
 39:6,6
ready 42:3
really 6:9,9
 27:19 47:11
 48:1 59:5,21
reason 45:1
 48:16 49:6
reasons 44:16
reassigned 25:24
receive 13:10
 38:8 44:7
received 9:24
 21:22 34:11
 37:3 38:10
 44:25
recognition 23:1
 26:16 53:16
recognize 28:9
 50:21
recognized 18:22
 19:10 26:7
recommend 38:18
recommendation
 11:8 12:8
 39:11,22
recommendations
 12:6 37:18
recommended
 11:16,21 39:3
recommends 38:21
record 3:19 7:10
 15:17 17:17
 24:9 27:11
 29:25 34:22
 37:7 39:7 41:2
recording 3:25
records 16:8
Recovery 48:13
 50:6
recruits 18:11
redeployed 35:21
reduce 13:20,25
 14:2,19,19
 20:1,23 21:8
reduced 51:12
 61:11
reduces 14:20
reflect 24:9
regard 10:13

regarding 10:25 11:12 24:1 35:17 37:1,10 38:12	resolution 6:23 17:25 22:25 23:10,20,23 24:9,11,14 25:2 26:15 27:3 28:22 29:4,6,24 30:2 32:10,17	8:17 9:1 13:21 17:10,13 32:21 40:16,25 43:1 43:20 44:20 45:17,21 46:23 46:24 53:4 56:23 57:8 59:6	school 21:15 58:9 59:10
regardless 39:1 43:12 54:24	resolutions 17:14,20 23:25	rights 25:21,24 26:4 57:16	science 21:17,18
regards 23:5 26:19 52:25	resolve 28:3	Risks 20:9	Scott 56:19,19
regress 55:15	resolved 22:22 26:12 28:6 31:23 32:4	River 35:20	scrap 38:8
regular 1:5 38:2	respect 42:15	Robert 3:23 11:11	season 5:2
rehire 20:18	respected 19:22 28:13	role 20:20 21:3 26:1	seated 29:19
rehired 20:8	respectfully 44:8	roll 19:4	seats 8:9,11
relates 7:8 29:18,23 37:4 54:23	respectively 38:4	Romano 56:1,1,14 56:17	second 20:13 33:2 45:12 49:12
relations 19:6 25:19 47:4	responders 41:4	Romeo 17:21 24:1 24:3,6,9 25:3 25:4,9,12,16 25:22 26:3,22 27:4,12	secretary 2:5 3:14,18,19 9:5 9:7,23 10:5 12:2,4,5,12,15
relative 13:20 42:22	responsibilities 13:9 31:5	room 13:7 14:22 16:20 40:12	secretary's 9:5
relay 47:19	responsibility 55:11	rotate 35:10	section 10:1 12:20 18:16 25:20 30:9 31:15 32:3 35:6 60:1
released 41:22	responsible 18:16 35:5	rotational 38:7	secure 29:20
remain 29:19	rest 3:16 59:3	roughly 16:2	security 13:3 59:20
remained 20:15 26:3	restored 7:5	RPR 1:18 61:23	see 6:5 13:1 24:3,6,13 34:15,17,19 40:7 54:1 56:21 57:19,21 59:18,19
remanded 44:12	restructuring 57:4	rules 51:14,16	selling 28:25 32:16
remarkable 22:20	result 4:11 6:18 18:25	running 8:2,8	seek 9:17
remember 10:14 34:7	retire 25:5	runs 34:10	seen 7:23 9:13 22:5 58:2 59:16
reminded 29:13	retired 20:12		sell 42:1
replacement 29:20 31:19 32:7	retirement 19:19 20:16 21:3 26:5 48:4	S	send 39:22 47:4
report 9:3,5 11:13,14 35:12 36:5,15,19,19	retiring 17:22	S 25:3,4 26:22	seniors 22:5
Reported 1:18	retrieve 11:6	safe 22:19 53:22 59:18	sentiments 5:10
reporter 4:1 61:5	return 13:14	safely 6:17	separate 14:8
Reporting 4:1	returned 15:22 55:22	Safety 40:15,21	September 20:13
reports 6:14	revenue 14:11 15:25 16:9 38:8	salute 23:6 26:21	sergeant 3:24 12:21,22 15:4 15:10,19,20,23 16:1,4,7,13,17 16:23 17:2,5,6 17:8 18:13,14 18:15,18 25:14 25:16 44:4
represented 20:6	review 8:22 36:16 43:17,21	Saturday 53:20	sergeants 12:24 57:2
representing 3:8	ribbon 40:14,20	saw 47:13	
represents 15:11	ride 59:18	saying 45:6	
request 9:24 10:2 39:5	right 3:13 4:19	scene 41:15,17	
Requesting 30:2		schedule 51:7	
requests 31:24 32:5		scheduled 35:16	
require 44:18			
required 30:24			
residence 20:2 20:15			

seriously 57:23
serve 21:1 29:14
 32:22
served 18:13,19
 19:17 26:4
 28:10 46:15,15
service 4:1 6:25
 7:11 9:20
 14:25 21:4
 22:17 23:2
 25:7 26:17,19
 28:24 29:9
services 38:23
serving 3:6 18:8
 31:14 32:2
sessions 51:8
set 4:19 37:5
settles 40:2
seven 7:2 16:13
 16:16 30:11
seventeen 58:8
Seventh 19:18,23
Severstall 13:23
Sharon 47:22
Shelter 46:16,20
shield 5:7
shields 5:7
Shift 18:20
shocked 49:4
shooter 41:20
 43:12
shopping 14:23
Shore 57:24
short 24:17
 41:24
Shorthand 61:5
shortly 19:7
short-lived 42:4
 42:11
show 35:12 58:24
shy 6:25
side 8:12
sign 11:20 52:16
signed 11:15
 23:7
significant 55:8
simply 34:18
sincere 26:15
sir 3:9,11 4:3
 4:20 5:17
 12:10,12,14
 15:3 16:17

17:3,5,11,23
 24:3,5,13 36:2
 36:19 45:24
 47:21 50:1,3
 58:20 59:24
sister's 52:6
sit 54:14
sitting 3:13
 31:6
sittings 31:3
situation 44:20
six 18:8 51:11
skills 18:23
 19:11 26:7
slots 38:7
smaller 50:10
Smith 51:21,21
 55:2,5,17,20
smooth 5:12
smoother 4:15
smoothly 56:8
social 21:5
son 45:17,20
 58:9
soon 55:23
sorry 16:20 30:1
 32:1 33:21
 37:19,25 38:21
 39:6 43:5
space 14:5,15
 16:22
spanned 22:13
speak 8:2 42:21
speaking 22:23
 26:13 28:7
special 9:8
specific 11:13
specifically
 37:2
speech 8:22
spell 41:1
spelled 11:15
spend 35:11
spoke 11:10 44:3
spots 48:23 58:6
staff 3:16 8:14
 8:15,18 21:15
stages 44:6
stand 12:9,11
 22:20 55:3,12
Standards 18:16
standing 54:18

standpoint 51:10
start 35:1 40:18
started 4:8 36:9
state 13:23
 31:10 37:20
 52:1 61:2,6
stated 34:24
 35:23 38:5,9
states 32:3
 38:23
statistics 35:25
status 11:12
 57:17
stay 43:1
Stenography
 61:12
step 55:13
stepped 4:11
stereotyping
 58:16
Steve 11:20
Stewart 29:11,19
 31:18 32:6
Stewart's 30:3
 31:1
stick 51:15
sticking 58:25
Stiffen 39:5
stop 36:11
stopped 59:20
storage 14:15
 38:8,23 39:2
stored 13:22
storm 46:7
straight 8:16
strategically
 49:10
street 57:9
streets 59:18
strength 7:7
stress 48:2 49:3
strong 18:24
 19:5
study 8:8
subject 30:13
Substantially
 18:6
succeed 7:18
success 14:18
 23:5 26:20
 56:2
successes 14:13

suffering 53:25
summary 10:10
Sunday 56:9
superb 49:23
superior 19:24
superiors 26:11
supervisors 22:3
supervisory 30:6
support 5:23
 7:22 8:25 18:6
 21:7 23:12
 27:1,18,22
 28:20 32:13
 33:3,4,7,9,16
 34:23 59:5
 60:4
supported 5:25
 23:14 27:3
 28:22 32:15
 33:4 60:6
supposed 58:6
sure 7:10 24:19
 40:19 42:6
 43:5 44:22
 45:4,16 48:6
 50:22 51:5,11
 51:13 53:14
 55:14
survival 57:17
suspend 11:8
suspension 9:24
 10:13,18 11:25
 12:1,8,11
suspensions
 30:25
sustainable
 20:22
sustained 58:14
sworn 31:21 32:9
 61:9

T

Tactical 34:23
tag 15:11,12
tags 13:5 15:7
 15:13
take 13:22 16:9
 24:25 27:9,24
 42:11 43:25
 45:1 49:19,23
 58:1,1
taken 1:14 42:4

61:8
takes 40:8 44:18
 59:6
talk 40:4, 6, 6
 47:17, 18 53:23
 55:22
talked 47:17
talking 49:22
 50:16
Taylor 2:3 3:7
 5:23 15:5, 18
 17:20 23:12
 24:3 25:2 28:5
 32:12 33:1, 10
 33:14 46:20
 48:9 51:6
 56:21 59:13
 60:4
tell 4:11, 13
 48:5, 11, 17
 49:18 53:10, 16
 53:18 54:15
 56:15
telling 35:1
Tenth 18:8
tenure 18:21
 21:10
term 7:19 27:16
 29:10, 18 30:3
 31:1, 14 32:2
 58:5
terms 27:15 29:9
testify 61:9
testimony 61:11
 61:15
thank 3:11, 18
 4:3, 13, 17, 19
 4:21, 25 5:16
 6:5, 6 7:21
 8:12, 14, 17, 24
 9:2, 8, 18, 19, 21
 9:21, 22, 22
 10:5 12:12, 17
 15:3, 18, 20
 17:4, 6, 8, 11
 24:11, 14 25:1
 27:9, 13, 21, 23
 28:14 32:20
 36:1, 1, 3, 19, 22
 39:8 40:8 41:7
 42:24, 25 43:3
 45:24 46:24

47:5, 16, 21, 23
 48:5, 10 50:1, 2
 50:20 51:18, 20
 54:14, 17 55:2
 55:19, 24 56:11
 56:13, 14, 16, 18
 56:20 58:20, 23
 59:11, 22, 24
 60:9
thankful 23:19
thing 24:20
 50:19 59:4
things 8:16 9:2
 12:7 27:17
 29:22 44:25
 45:1 57:12
think 4:8, 14
 6:16 8:7, 15, 22
 9:10, 12, 15
 23:16 40:5
 45:11 51:9, 24
 54:19 58:4, 4
 58:17, 18 59:13
third 45:12
thorough 43:15
three 4:8 31:3, 6
 45:19 51:12, 24
 59:17, 19
three-way 52:4
three-year 24:18
throw 51:15
 53:11 54:2
 58:5
Thursday 1:16
 5:21
tied 57:22
tight 8:16
time 4:6 5:17
 8:17 9:4 13:4
 20:11, 13, 24
 23:16 28:2
 32:21 35:11
 38:4, 14 40:18
 40:22 41:3, 4
 42:10, 24 43:8
 45:23 46:17
 47:13 49:20
 52:8 56:9
 59:25
times 7:25 9:13
 38:16 47:18
 51:24

tireless 26:18
today 3:8 4:4
 6:24 10:18
 29:11, 17 43:2
 48:16 57:1
today's 5:18, 20
 5:25 10:8 12:3
Tolbert 2:6 3:9
 3:11 12:19
 17:9 34:4
 36:21 43:9
 44:15, 23 45:5
 52:3, 8
told 8:3 53:20
 58:13
Tom 39:5 58:22
tomorrow 6:24
 40:13, 19 54:5
tongue 53:18
tonight 52:18
Tony 29:19 30:3
 31:1
top 46:4
tough 4:16
tow 35:2, 9, 23
 36:6 37:1, 5, 16
 37:19, 20 38:10
 38:12, 15, 19, 20
 38:21, 25 39:3
 39:9, 10, 11, 15
 39:17, 21, 21
 48:25 49:6
towed 49:13, 15
towers 36:16
 38:5, 9, 13
 39:19 50:24
 51:4, 11, 12
towing 34:1, 3
 35:5 36:6
 37:11, 12 38:17
 38:22 50:6, 23
town 42:5
tows 34:8, 11, 12
 34:20 37:2, 17
 37:22, 24 38:2
 38:3, 6, 25 51:2
 51:2
track 42:3
traffic 35:4
training 18:10
 19:5 21:11
transcended

22:14
transcribed
 61:13
transcript 61:15
transcription
 61:14
transfer 13:10
 19:7
transferred
 18:15 19:11
transformation
 57:4
transit 41:13
 42:9 43:13
transition 5:12
transparency
 34:12
transpire 5:11
transport 14:16
tremendously
 27:18 42:7
trenches 54:21
Trisha 1:18 3:25
 61:5, 23
troops 7:5
truck 14:17
true 61:14
truly 41:22 42:5
 42:23 45:9, 22
 59:18
truth 54:15 61:9
 61:10, 10
try 13:20 14:1
 43:2
trying 14:5 42:1
 42:15 47:7
Tuesday 5:22
 40:10, 11
turn 9:4 13:15
 14:8, 20 34:20
turned 14:9
 41:17
Twelfth 18:14, 20
 18:21
twelve 7:15
two 13:6 21:23
 21:25 26:3
 27:12, 15 31:20
 32:7 41:2
 45:19 59:12, 19
type 8:7, 22
 35:22

U
Uh-huh 55:2
ultimately 39:3
unabashedly
 57:15
unable 31:4
unanimous 24:10
 27:8
unassuming 7:4
unclaimed 13:18
uncle 41:10
underlying 10:11
 10:16
understand 24:21
 24:23 43:10
 44:9 45:5
 47:25
understanding
 10:2
unfortunately
 41:10
UNIDENTIFIED
 33:2
union 58:10
unit 13:9 18:6
 21:25 25:19
University 21:15
 21:18,19
unmatched 23:2
unnoticed 6:15
unparalleled
 23:2
unquote 11:4
unwavering 22:11
update 45:11
uphold 8:10,11
upset 52:15
usually 14:18

V
valuable 14:5,8
 14:15
varies 16:7
various 22:10
 26:8 37:23
vehicle 38:15
vehicles 37:3,13
 38:20
venture 35:13
 53:3
venue 59:19

vice 3:7 7:16
 28:3 33:13,22
 59:13
view 57:16
vigilant 54:23
violations 57:22
visible 20:20
visions 22:12
visiting 22:7
vocal 54:23
volumes 35:20
vote 30:23 33:20
voted 38:18
 39:18 40:1
voters 30:20
voting 57:16

W
wait 54:1
waiting 44:6
 55:21
waive 31:11,17
 31:24
walking 22:6
walks 22:8
want 4:7 6:6
 7:10,13,21
 8:14,17,24
 17:12 23:15
 24:22 27:10,12
 27:24 28:2
 29:6 34:3 41:1
 43:4,5 44:24
 45:3,13 46:11
 47:15,19,23
 48:5 50:8,18
 52:22 53:1,10
 53:22 54:3,11
 54:12 56:2,19
 56:23 58:19,23
 58:23 59:11,11
 59:22
wanted 9:18 47:4
 48:5 51:25
 53:7 56:10
wants 39:19 55:7
Warfield 2:2 3:2
 3:5,13 4:3
 5:16,24 6:4
 9:19,21 12:10
 12:13,17 15:3
 17:6,10 23:13
 24:5 27:2,7,15
 27:23 28:21
 29:3 32:14,19
 33:3,8,16,18
 36:1,14,22
 41:6 42:25
 45:10,21,24
 46:17,19,23
 47:21 48:8,10
 50:1,15,19
 51:20 53:11
 54:17 55:3,7
 55:19,24 56:13
 56:15,18 58:20
 59:24 60:5,8
warrant 11:21,23
warranted 44:12
Washington 3:23
 10:4,5,6
wasn't 58:14
watching 6:8
 54:3
way 7:4,4,5
 15:14 34:13
 48:18,20,21
 53:7 54:20
Wayne 43:18,21
weapon 42:11
wear 5:5
wearing 11:3
weathered 46:7
website 16:15
week 13:12 34:7
 35:15 36:9,9
 37:1 39:15
 57:8 58:17
weekend 54:8
 57:21
weekly 14:18
weeks 34:2 36:18
 47:15
weigh 34:1,3
weight 38:25
Welborne 47:1,2
welcome 3:3 15:4
 15:19 17:5
 40:20 53:21
went 20:17 35:15
 37:2 56:10
 58:14 59:10
we'll 5:12 8:6
 12:20 57:4

we're 5:2 6:23
 14:5,21 15:14
 15:16 16:9
 29:16,24 36:9
 40:4 41:13
 46:15 53:22,25
we've 4:15 7:24
 14:3,13,13,15
 16:6 27:18,22
 29:13
whatsoever 4:10
wheelchair 56:6
whichever 31:21
 32:9
white 2:4 3:8
 5:19 9:6 15:20
 15:24 16:2,5
 16:11,16,19,25
 17:4,16,17,24
 27:1,16 28:20
 32:13,25 33:7
 33:15,17,22
 36:3 51:6
 57:24 59:13
 60:3
wide 30:19 47:3
 47:6,7
widely 28:13
wife 47:12
willingly 42:19
window 24:18,18
wish 40:18,23
wishes 23:5
 26:20
withheld 42:13
witness 61:7,12
 61:16
witnessed 7:23
witnesses 44:11
woman 56:22 58:8
women 5:5 6:6
 8:12 21:7
 22:16 54:25
 55:8,14 57:18
Woodward 1:14
word 4:22
words 52:24
work 22:18 29:16
 43:5 49:20
 50:14 56:12
worked 19:1
 20:21 49:21,24

54:20
working 48:18
 50:15
works 58:10
world 5:1
worried 51:24
 52:9,20
worse 53:13
 55:16
worthy 11:3
Worthy's 44:6
wouldn't 49:10
writing 61:11
wrong 6:11 58:13
W-e-l-b-o-r-n-e
 47:2

Y

yard 48:13
Yeah 37:25
year 7:20,23,23
 8:3,22,24 9:10
 14:15 16:3
 21:14 32:23
 33:23 56:5
 58:8,9
yearly 7:15
years 4:8 7:22
 9:20 16:6,8
 18:8 21:4 23:1
 23:15 25:6
 26:16 28:23
 29:9 39:16
 47:5
Yolanda 46:1
young 35:19
 57:10,18,21,24
youth 22:5

\$

\$35 38:3
\$50 38:3

1

1 1:11 21:4 31:2
 33:11
1st 41:11
1,200 13:12
10 11:10,19
10th 46:14
10:00 40:19,19
100 57:10

1005 9:25 10:20
108 13:7
110 48:21
13 18:18 19:9
 25:6,6
1300 13:7 16:23
 37:9 40:12,17
1301 40:17
14th 25:10 45:18
16th 36:9
18 42:2
1969 18:3
1974 21:18
1975 18:13
1976 18:14
1977 18:18
1986 19:9 25:10
1993 19:16
1995 21:14,20
1997 25:14 29:24
 30:17

2

2nd 5:22 40:11
 40:11
20 19:19 20:24
20th 5:21 12:1
 37:15
2000 25:17
2002 19:19
2005 20:9
2007 25:23
2008 20:13
2010 20:20
2012 14:4,12
 15:25 16:1
 20:24 25:6
 30:4
2013 1:16 10:21
 11:7,10,19
 14:14 15:25
 21:4 23:8
 26:24 28:18
 30:21 31:2
 32:23 33:12,23
 36:6,7 37:8,15
 41:11
2014 32:23 33:23
21 18:3
21st 25:13
22 36:7
23 37:8

25 20:13
25,000 14:14
26-year-old
 41:25
27 1:16 18:13
 25:6,17 26:16
 28:17
27th 10:21 12:3
 23:8 26:24
 45:18
28th 25:5

3

3rd 25:23
3,400 14:4
3:00 40:11
3:13 1:17
32,000 13:5 15:7
 15:12
328-A 40:12
357,000 15:6
36th 11:20 57:11
37,000 13:21
375,000 13:4

4

4:00 10:22
4:31 60:10
40 21:14 23:1
40,000 13:5 15:7
41,000 14:11
 15:24 16:2
48 41:13,18 44:9
48226 37:10

5

5-24-18 61:25

6

6th 11:7
61 1:11

7

7th 36:6
7-801 30:9
7-802 31:15 32:3
7310 1:14

8

8 46:16,20
8:00 49:5

9

93-year 56:6